PARENTING IN A DIFFERENT SOCIAL ENVIRONMENT: THE EXPERIENCES AND PERSPECTIVES OF IMMIGRANT WOMEN OF AFRICAN DESCENT IN BRITISH COLUMBIA

b y

Eugenia Adeline Kgomo B.A. Hons, University of the North, 1986

THESIS SUBMITTED IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF MASTER OF ARTS

in the Department
of
Women's Studies

© Eugenia Adeline Kgomo 1996 SIMON FRASER UNIVERSITY August 1996

All rights reserved. This work may not be reproduced in whole or in part, by photocopy or other means, without permission of the author.



Acquisitions and Bibliographic Services Branch

395 Wellington Street Ottawa, Ontario K1A 0N4 Bibliothèque nationale du Canada

Direction des acquisitions et des services bibliographiques

395, rue Wellington Ottawa (Ontario) K1A 0N4

Your file Votre référence

Our file Notre référence

The author has granted an irrevocable non-exclusive licence allowing the National Library of Canada to reproduce, loan, distribute or sell copies of his/her thesis by any means and in any form or format, making this thesis available to interested persons.

L'auteur a accordé une licence irrévocable et non exclusive Bibliothèque permettant à la nationale du Canada de reproduire, prêter, distribuer ou vendre des copies de sa thèse de quelque manière et sous quelque forme que ce soit pour mettre des exemplaires de cette thèse à disposition la des personnes intéressées.

The author retains ownership of the copyright in his/her thesis. Neither the thesis nor substantial extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without his/her permission. L'auteur conserve la propriété du droit d'auteur qui protège sa thèse. Ni la thèse ni des extraits substantiels de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou autrement reproduits sans son autorisation.

ISBN 0-612-16948-0



PARTIAL COPYRIGHT LICENSE

I hereby grant to Simon Fraser University the right to lend my thesis, project or extended essay (the title of which is shown below) to users of the Simon Fraser University Library, and to make partial or single copies only for such users or in response to a request from the library of any other university, or other educational institution, on its own behalf or for one of its users. I further agree that permission for multiple copying of this work for scholarly purposes may be granted by me or the Dean of Graduate Studies. It is understood that copying or publication of this work for financial gain shall not be allowed without my written permission.

Title of Thesis/Project/Extended Essay			
Parenting in a Different Social Environment: The Experiences and			
Perspectives of Immigrant Women of African Descent in British			
Columbia.			
And the same			
Author: (signature)			
(name)			
15 · 08 · 1996 (date)			

Approval

Name:

Eugenia Adeline Kgomo

Degree:

Master of Arts (Women's Studies)

Title of thesis:

Parenting in a Different Social Environment: The

Experiences and Perspectives of Immigrant Women

of African Descent in British Columbia

Examining Committee:

Chair:

Dr. Susan Wendell

Dr. Cathy Nesmith
Senior Supervisor

Dr. Meredith Kimball Second Supervisor

Dr. Isabel Dyck

External Examiner

Associate Professor, School of Rehabilitation

Sciences

University of British Columbia

Date Approved:

Abstract

There is a growing literature on the experiences of immigrant women; however, little attention has been paid to parenting experiences of immigrant women, in particular those of African descent.

The thesis seeks to gain a deeper understanding of how immigrant women of African descent in British Columbia socialize their children, and why they socialize their children in certain ways, given the fact that these mothers have been socialized in a different culture. Furthermore, the thesis attempts to elaborate on the extent to which both the women's original culture and their new culture interact to determine their child rearing practices and perceptions of parenting.

The methodology used is in-depth interviews about the women's African centric and Canadian experiences. Loosely structure, open ended questions focused on topics such as discipline, self esteem, respect, responsibility, racism, safety and the school and parenting resources. The women were encouraged to talk extensively and reflectively about their experiences as mothers.

The results indicate that the task of child rearing for these women is very challenging. The women perceive Canadian cultural values to be more materialistic, individualistic, relaxed and less respectful of elders than African centric cultural values which emphasize the opposite principles. These conflicts, coupled with these mothers' and their children's visible minority status, compels the women to undergo dramatic shifts in their conceptual framework of parenting, and in parenting techniques in an attempt to adapt to Canadian culture. They select and incorporate aspects of both cultures to socialize their children to fit into

Canadian culture, yet retain their African centric self identity, given their visible minority status. These women lack adequate information and resources relevant to the challenges they face on a daily basis. The women also expressed a yearning for recognition and inclusion of their parenting style by mainstream culture.

It is important that immigrant women's experiences be incorporated by the Canadian Ministry of Social Services when planning and facilitating future social services, and that existing services become more sensitive and welcoming to these women's ways of parenting.

Dedication

For my late father Wilfrid

my mother Constance

and my sons

Tsepo and Zakhele

Acknowledgments

This thesis could not have been a success without support from the my co-researcher who unselfishly agreed to volunteer following people: their valuable time to do the interviews. My special gratitude goes to Kate who helped me find the participants. I would also like to extend my sincerest thanks to Rita: she offered to drive me to some of the women's My heartfelt appreciation goes to Maureen, for helping to edit Thoko, for giving me the spiritual and moral support and help that only a true friend can give. Larry, Ntsikie, Dudu and in particular, Ndumiso, thank you for offering to take care of my baby during the last I acknowledge the support of Carol, Violet and Morela. hectic weeks. I also acknowledge the support of Mbuti. My appreciation also goes to my supervisors, Doctor Cathy Nesmith and Dr. Meredith Kimball for their guidance, the Simon Fraser University for financial assistance support, and the YWCA for making it possible for me to complete this thesis.

Table of Contents

Approval	ii
Abstract	iii
Dedication	i v
Acknowledgments	V
I. INTRODUCTION	1
1. Research Problem	1
2. The Purpose of the Thesis	3
3. Literature Review	6
3.1. Identifying Gaps	6
3.2. Mothers and Parenting	8
3.3. The Component of Difference	9
3.4. The Components of 'Immigranthood' and Change	1 2
4. Content	15
II. METHODOLOGIES	1 6
1. Feminist Oral History as Relevant Methodology	1 6
2. Research Sample	23
3. Instrument	2 5
4. Collection of Data	2 6
5. Presentation	2 8
III. BACKGROUND INFORMATION	3 0
1. Getting to Know One Another	30
2. Parenting in Home Countries	32
2.1. Important Values	32
2.2. The Socializer	37
2.3. Parenting Methods	44

IV. CANADIAN EXPERIENCE	48
1. Preconceptions about Canadian Parenting	48
2. 'Welcome to Canada'	50
3. The Parenting Activity	66
3.1. Content and Method	67
3.2. Discipline	87
4. The Women's Reflections on the Mother-Child	Relationship93
5. Experiences with Social Institutions	103
6. Missing Factors	106
7. Transformations, Changes and Adjustments	108
v. RECOMMENDATIONS AND CONCLUSION	116
APPENDIX A	131
List of Questions	131
APPENDIX B	140
Form #2	140
APPENDIX C	143
Form #4	143
BIBLIOGRAPHY	145

CHAPTER I

INTRODUCTION

Experience is the realm where differences and commonalities are worked out. Without hearing women's own account of our perceptions, thoughts, and feelings, all discussions of commonality and difference are abstract, unreal, and unrealized.

Glenda P. Simms, "Foreword"

in Sharing our Experience

1. RESEARCH PROBLEM

While working on my masters program in Women's Studies, I found, on the one hand, that the course is informative, educative and eye opening, while on the other hand, I have been disappointed by insufficient information about immigrant women, including those of my own heritage, which is African. Exclusion of experiences of this group of women is very evident in the subject of motherhood and parenting, regardless of an increase in research in this area. Boulton (1983:21) has also noticed this lack, particularly in the topics of adaptation, cultural clashes, transitions and services available. The literature which addresses women of African descent tends to represent us as struggling 'poor' victims of white middle class men's patriarchal social structure or as victims of our own spouses. I am not denying or trivializing issues other than parenting

as they form an integral part of our everyday experiences. However, the problem is that they represent one side of ourselves and overshadow the other. Very rarely, or never, are we perceived and portrayed as active, rational or powerful women (let alone mothers) who are very often in control of their personal spheres, especially the home. This practice, so says Humm (1992), is grounded in feminist theory. Criticizing Second Wave Feminism, she points out that although second wave feminists succeeded in developing the themes of 'reproduction', 'experience' and 'difference' as feminist issues, they failed to empower women's reproduction by portraying them as victims of reproduction (53-4).

From my own experience, women of African heritage and children are inseparable beings, even in Canada. Whenever we converse as mothers, our children form an integral part of our I have encountered a similar experience with many conversations. women outside my group, even with some men. I am attempting to demonstrate the point that mothering, rather than wifehood, is "the most important occupation and priority of African women, embedded in the African heritage and philosophy that places special value on children" (Staples, 1988:317). Supporting Staples, Ellis (1986), writing about women of the Caribbean, stresses not only the value of motherhood, but also the respect, influence and authority given to mothers. She reports that as a result, seventy five percent of the women are mothers (9). It is, therefore, crucial that we give the issue of parenting as much recognition as other immigrant women's issues. Based on the above mentioned observations, I

would argue that parenting experiences of immigrant women of African descent constitute great possibilities for research.

2. THE PURPOSE OF THE THESIS

Given the above situation, and the fact that "marginality and racial differences are, among other factors, important in feminist studies," (Nava, 1992:8), the central aim of the thesis is to document parenting experiences of mothers of African descent in British Columbia. My focus is on the women's concrete experiences as they raise their children in a social environment that is different from the one in which they have been raised and socialized. Cross cultural studies on parenting observe the existence of cultural variations in the way in which parents define and practice child rearing (Staples, I am, therefore, interested in how immigrant mothers of 1971). African descent or heritage, given a socialization background different from the Canadian one, perceive, explain and carry out the role of child rearing in Canada. My intention is to document the social and psychological aspects of their parenting; the what, when, how and why of their parenting. I will also discuss the aspect of progression, bringing in issues of "adaptations", "cultural clashes", transitions and services available, as identified as pertinent by Finally, I will be looking at the role played by both Boulton (1983). their pre-Canadian and their Canadian experiences in relation to their parenting activity.

In relation to the change that mothers undergo, I shall draw from the purpose from Warren's research on experiences of immigrants in Canada.

- 1. to inform and provide understanding "into the attitudinal bridging processes used by the immigrant [mothers] in making, [in particular, parental] transition from the [pre Canadian to the Canadian parenting]"
- 2. "to identify and describe the effect which the bridging processes have had upon the women's changing concept of self." (Warren, 1986:7).

Research in this area is necessary in order to include and give immigrant women of African heritage more voice within feminism; they "have too often been silenced or not encouraged to speak" (Warren, 1986:1). This opportunity will allow them more representation within feminist discourse. Feminist theory holds that worthwhile research should not only contribute to the women's but have an emancipatory contribution to the women movement. (Acker, Barry & Esseveld, 1991:145). The thesis will also enable them to reach out and bring awareness to the Canadian community particularly to the institutions and organizations responsible for provision of social resources and services related to parenting. Hopefully, such awareness will facilitate attention in this In this way, specific parenting problems as experienced by immigrant women of African descent will be addressed. One of the intentions is to use the thesis as a means of support for those women who find themselves in the same situation as my co-researchers. I hope that, as they read the stories of these women, they will be

encouraged to know that they are not alone. I also hope that they might gain useful parenting insights from these women.

Parenting involves caring for both the physical and the psychological aspects of a child (Fantini & Cardenas, 1980:17; Rich, 1986:52; Hammer, 1975:18). Although the two aspects are intertwined, I shall focus on the psychological or socialization aspect for two reasons. First, as reflected through literature on immigrant women I come into contact with on a regular basis find this aspect problematic, as I do myself. Second, as will be demonstrated under the topic 'Literature Review' below, this aspect has been ignored by researchers on issues of motherhood.

In the context of this thesis, this general concept, 'parenting', in general terms refers to those roles which are associated with being a father or a mother (Collins Cobuild Essential English Dictionary). Also, it is used to include the roles which my co-researchers perform, which are 'mothering' and 'socialization'. The concept 'mothering' is used to refer to those activities which are traditionally relegated to mothers. These involve nurturing, protecting and supporting the physical, the spiritual, psychological and the autonomous development of children (Hammer, 1975:18). The concept 'socialization' is used to refer to a process whereby children are taught [through parenting] accepted values, beliefs and behaviors in their development to become autonomous acceptable and responsible adults within the society in which they are members (Boykin and Toms, 1985:33, citing Baldwin 1980 & Young, 1970). For the purpose of the thesis I use the concept 'parenting' to include

also the traditional fathering role, as some of the women, in particular the single mothers, parent alone.

3. LITERATURE REVIEW

3.1. Identifying Gaps

Researchers on immigrant women in Canada have eloquently documented various experiences of immigrant women. Nonetheless. one cannot fail to notice the gap left on the subject of parenting, particularly the area of socialization of children. Existing research on immigrant women tends to emphasize issues related to employment, education, language and spousal abuse. Issues of parenting are usually dominated by daycare issues. Even so they are only discussed to demonstrate the necessity of daycare for the purpose of economic improvement of these women, to give them equal opportunity to men in the public sphere (Estable, 1986; Seward & McDade, 1988; Roberts, 1990). Even where parenting issues are addressed, discussions are not extensive and detailed enough. The Canadian Advisory Council on the Status of Women (1993) has compiled a collection of stories about experiences of minority and Aboriginal women, among which, fortunately, are parenting experiences. Unfortunately, these stories are limited to relationships between mothers and daughters, a tendency in the literature which has also been noted by Harris (1990). As a result, such research does not provide us with a holistic picture of relationships between mothers and their children. In addition,

does not address the progression of motherhood for immigrant women.

A similar tendency to exclude immigrant women's parenting experiences is also evident in mainstream research. This research, although it recognizes the impact made by the aspect of change on parenting, tends to contextualize this change vertically (according to social class), and historically within the same cultural environment (Dally, 1976; Eakins, et. al., 1983; Boulton, 1983). The research tends to noticeably overlook horizontal (by location) change experienced by immigrant mothers. Even where such change is documented, it is given little coverage, and does not focus on the daily experiences of these women (Hammer, 1975; Kitzinger, 1978; Chinese Canadian National Council, 1992).

Theories on mothering have a similar tendency. A popular feminist psychoanalyst, Chodorow (1978), attempts to give psychological explanations for why women continue to want to mother. However, she formulates a theory that focuses exclusively on western culture, with explanations and generalizations that are drawn from the experiences of the White North American as a representative of all other people, and totally failing to recognize cultural diversity (Spelman, 1988:85; Boykin & Toms, 1985:34).

This exclusion, which reflects a weakness in feminist theories can be traced back to the tendency of feminist theory to focus heavily on the public sphere (Bernard, 1975:32). Following this focus, feminist researchers on immigrant women's issues overlooked one of the most important roles played by immigrant women, that of reproduction. The fact that the role of child socialization for this

group of women takes place in a strange environment makes their experiences crucial to feminist research.

Exclusion of immigrant women's experiences in this respect poses the danger of grossly under representing, silencing and rendering invisible and unimportant parenting experiences of this group of women. It also goes against revelations by feminist analyses that "there is no unitary family experience for women, [that] no one pattern of life characterizes the experiences of all women" (Baber & Allen, 1992:1).

3.2. Mothers and Parenting

That mothers are primary carers of children is a universal reality. "Women, as child bearers, are expected to nurture and take care of the children, but are "assigned almost all responsibility for the children" (Rich, 1986:142). Furthermore,

"Mothers usually spend most time with children and feel that the final responsibility of somehow producing a socially acceptable, happy and reasonably bright child falls on them." (Kitzinger, 1978:16)

Although research done all over the world in the area of parenting comes to the same conclusion, we should also recognize the important role played by fathers, especially single fathers (Billingsley, 1968:38, 43, 44)). In her study on relationships between mothers and daughters in the USA, Hammer perceives a mother as "the first mediator of the environment for a daughter."

Njoku (1980:16), writing about African (Hammer, 1975:XIV). women, sees the African woman as "the architect of moral and spiritual development." In Ghana, as maintained by Kaye (1962:133), "a universal practice is for the mother to be chiefly responsible for the early care of her children . . ." Even where husbands help with housework, wives still end up doing more work (Boulton, 1983:142; Boudreau et al., 1986). It is not only the biological mother who is responsible for taking care of children. African centric parenting custom demands the participation of other The same practice is present in Western culture in the form women. of child caregivers who are predominantly women. The difference between the two cultures is that whereas in the western culture such mothering is controlled and institutionalized as in daycare centers, in the African centric culture it is spontaneous and informal. This reality, that parenting is an activity which is almost exclusively relegated to women, necessitates more research in this area, especially in relation to immigrant mothers.

3.3. The Component of Difference

There is enough evidence that "there is certainly a great contrast between the Western family life and that of most of the rest of the world." (Trebilcot, 1984:235). These differences, which are based on different philosophies, include the family structure, the belief and value system, methods of parenting, and the socialization content. Majors and Billson (1992:55-6, 111), writing about the dilemmas of Black Manhood in the US, came up with some basic philosophical differences between African centric culture and

Western culture. Among these differences are African features of interconnectedness and community, oneness with nature, spirituality and collectivism, where the principle of expressive individualism harmonizes with that of communalism. According to this view, "while possessions belong to the community at large, uniqueness is valued" (111). In contrast, so they maintain, are the Euro-American features of separateness and independence, materialism and individualism, where "possessiveness and individualism [are forced] to live in the same boat" (56).

Myers (1988:188), in her explanation of an "Afrocentric World View", holds the same perspective. She goes further to discuss how this world view prescribes an individual's attainment of self identity and self-knowledge. Underlying this world view is the epistemology that places self-knowledge at the base of all knowledge, and the ontology that argues that 'the process by which we will achieve our goals is through human and spiritual networks" (3). Achievement of this will lead to attainment of "everlasting peace and happiness", the basic purpose of African education. According to an Afrocentric conceptual framework,

"reality is at once spiritual and material. When the spiritual/material ontology is adhered to, one loses the sense of individualized/material mind and experiences the harmony of the collective identity of being one with the source of all good." (Myers, 1988:12)

The concept of "collective self" facilitates the concept of "extended self", which includes all of nature, the entire community,

the unborn and the ancestors. However, to be recognized and included in the circle of existence, one has to fulfill the requirements- "adoption of the proper consciousness as evidenced through behavior and attitude" (Myers, 1988:12, citing Asante, 1980; Zahan, 1979). This world view places the highest value on "positive interpersonal relationships among humankind" (Myers, 1988:12, citing Nichols, 1976). This world view, has been contaminated by the materialistic world view and by racism and sexism (13).

These philosophies, the Western and The Afrocentric, seem to shape contrasting family structures between the two cultures. The Afrocentric view of interconnectedness and communality seems to relate to the existence of an extended family structure. In contrast, the Euro-American perspective of separateness and independence seems to result in the nuclear family structure. Dodson (1981), studying Black American family patterns not only found a strong existence of extended family (28), but also noted existence of stronger kinship ties and support in "Black families" than in White families (29).

In support of this world view, theories on mothering argue that individual women mother differently depending on the way in which they have been raised; but women from the same cultural, ethnic, regional or racial background will share much in common in the way in which they mother (Collins, 1990:115-137). It is highly probable, then that women who have been socialized in a different culture will find it challenging to raise their children in the Canadian social environment.

3.4. The Components of 'Immigranthood' and Change

Another important different characteristic is the immigrant status. The challenges faced by immigrants are described by the following excerpt by one Canadian psychologist who states:

Every act of immigration is like suffering a brain stroke. One has to learn to walk again, to talk again, to move around the world again, and, probably the most difficult of all, one has to learn to re-establish a sense of community. (Vivian Rakoff, cited by Warren, 1986:7)

As experienced by Adrian Stokes, an English painter and writer, "Living in a new country, may signify a second birth" (Carter, 1992:1).

Whereas all immigrants, regardless of their demographic traits, will go through the process of 'acculturation' (McAdoo, 1993:10, 11, drawing on Kumabe et .al., 1985), it is women who will be hit the hardest. As primary child socializers the process of acculturation will fall more heavily on their shoulders than on any family member. They will be faced with the responsibility of adapting not only for their sakes, but also for the sake of the children they will be socializing. The reality is that "The physical and psychic weight of responsibility on [every] woman with children is by far the heaviest of social burdens" (Rich, 1986:53). Meanwhile. they go through this process as adults who are unfamiliar with the Canadian social structure and environment, carrying with them the values and beliefs with which they have been brought up. disadvantaged situation in this regard is further exacerbated by the

fact that their values and beliefs are not only perceived as strange, but also quite often rejected. Warren ascertains:

Unlike most of us, these women have lived in other countries and have been an integral part of cultures, practices and values unfamiliar to us [Canadians]. As Canadians we are enthusiastic about our country but sometimes are inclined to be too ethnocentric in our culture, our way of doing things are the best. Such a viewpoint blinds us to the real talents, fresh perspectives, and potential contributions of newcomers. (Warren, 1986:1)

Being an immigrant, therefore, is a complicated experience which is often accompanied by drastic changes, within which is an inherent aspect of inevitability in any situation. In relation to immigrant mothers and mothering, such change is complex. with other cultures necessitates changes in both their family pattern and their child rearing methods (Ruddick, 1984:219). Such changes are made more difficult by the fact that change in rearing methods is slow (Bernhard, 1970:10-11) In addition, the process of transition is further complicated by the fact that these women are immigrants in a society which "is changing with an acceleration that is probably unprecedented", where "traditional patterns of child rearing are becoming increasingly difficult to follow and often seem to be no longer relevant, " and in a world which "is less structured and less supportive than formerly" (Dally, 1976:209), "in this day of confused thinking and conflicting standards" (Bernhard, 1970:11). Compounding the whole situation, as already stated, this world conflicts with the 'world' from which my co-reseachers originate.,

which, as will be later demonstrated by their stories, is supportive, having "uniform" standards of beliefs and values. Warren (1986), sees a cross cultural transition, which is necessary for the achievement "of a satisfactory sense of identity" as difficult, as a "grieving process". According to this theory, "the self is a social self, one developed through interaction with others" (8). He maintains, therefore, that since the immigrants' 'others' in a new country differ from those in the old country, "it follows that a sense of self must Given this situation, the women will suffer also be developed" (18). a sense of loss as they go through a bridging process. A bridging process occurs when immigrants integrate in a new culture. This process requires the immigrant to relinquish certain self identifying aspects of the original culture in order to gain a sense of recognition acceptance and community in the new culture. Warren (1986) discusses dynamics of this process.

Moreover, the fact that my co-researchers belong to a visible minority group makes them susceptible to racial discrimination at some time in their lives. Such discrimination includes "exclusion from participation in the life of the society, even in a democracy like Canada" (Krauter & Davis, 1978:1). They also tend "to be a relatively neglected component of the immigration population", not only regarding research, but also policy formulation (Seward & McDade, 1988:1). Moreover, as immigrants, they have "to work harder than non-immigrants in order to achieve equality" (Warren, 1986:15).

4. CONTENT

The preceding chapter adequately demonstrates the necessity In reviewing relevant literature, I have indicated how of my thesis. researchers and theorists about women in general, and about immigrant women in particular, by excluding experiences of African contributed to marginalization of their parenting centric women. In chapter two I discuss the feminist oral history as a Chapter three provides us relevant methodology to my research. with background information of the women, that is, where they are It focuses on the women's African centric socialization coming from. processes and parenting. This information will later be used is to find connections between the women's past experiences and Chapter four addresses perspectives on parenting and their present. their experiences and perceptions of the Canadian social structure and environment as parents and/or parents to be. It includes experiences from the time they arrived to the day of the research. Chapter five is the conclusion of the research and recommendations, most of which draws from the women's perspectives.

CHAPTER II

METHODOLOGY

1. FEMINIST ORAL HISTORY AS RELEVANT METHODOLOGY

Some feminist researchers advocate methodologies which Such feminist research is draws from Feminist Standpoint Theory. in sharp contrast with traditional research methodologies which explains the world from men's point of view. Feminist standpoint theory advocates research that explains reality from the perspective of women (Smith, 1987; hooks, 1988; Fonow & Cook, 1991; Collins, 1990; Reinharz, 1993) because women's experience and perception of the world differs from men's. In her talk, 'Making the Everyday and Everynight World Problematic', Smith (1994), reiterated that taking the actual experiences of women as they understand their own world in their own way, not the way it is understood by others [my emphasis], forms the basis of this approach. Feminist research is about "direct experience directly related to us as women and as researchers" (Fonow & Cook, 1990:71). Feminist methods are still evolving; therefore, there is no single methodology. However, I found oral history methodology to be most suitable for this type of research. Extensive, in-depth interviews with women will provide us with rich and complex data that reflects the women's experiences from their own perspectives.

It is from this premise that I ground my research. The purpose of my research, as outlined in chapter one, is to document parenting experiences of immigrant women of African descent from

their own perspective. In order to facilitate this purpose, and to stay within the feminist research framework, I employed Feminist Oral History Methodology by conducting in-depth interviews. Oral History "is a basic tool in our efforts to incorporate the previously overlooked lives, activities, and feelings of women into our understanding of the past and of the present" (Anderson, et. al., 1990:95). Feminist Oral History differs from traditional oral history in that it goes further than documenting activities; it incorporates feelings and values in its research methodology (Anderson et al., 1990:96, citing Anderson & Armitage).

I also chose this methodology because it is consistent with the intentions of Black Feminist Thought, those "ideas produced by Black women that clarify a standpoint of and for Black women" (Collins, This perspective, therefore, adds a racial and/or cultural 1991:37). perspective to feminist research. As outlined in the preceding chapter, Collins identifies a cultural difference in the way in which women of African descent express themselves. Oral history methodology, therefore, facilitates identification of this difference. Proponents of this methodology maintain that this research methodology is suited for research on women of African descent. Etter-Lewis (1991:43), maintains that "When applied to women of color, it assumes added significance as a powerful instrument for the rediscovery of womanhood so often overlooked and/or neglected in history and literature alike". She argues that this research method brings to the surface the multi-faceted nature of black women's lives as characterized by the intersection of "gender, race, social class Another factor which with language, history and culture" (43).

proponents of the 'representation of black women's voices' bring to light is that the style of expression unique to the black narrator necessitates the oral history methodology. (Etter-Lewis, 1991; Busia, 1993). Also, as a female researcher who comes from an oral history background, I identify more with this methodology. Sharing the same 'oral history' background with my co-researchers, I found the interview atmosphere very relaxing.

My research also takes a feminist ethnographic perspective in that it attempts to situate women's experiences in relation to wider social structures. Following Smith, this research claims to be "able to disclose for women how our own situations are organized and determined by social processes that extend outside the scope of the everyday world and are not discoverable within it" (Smith, As she further argues, this perspective is "concerned with how the phenomena known to sociology express the actual activities of actual individuals [by] exploring how these phenomena are organized as social relations " (153). Based on this perspective, it follows then, that change in the social structure will affect the way in which women experience their world. Therefore, feminist research must also reflect on the aspect of change. This can be done by providing "imaginative alternatives that suggest how women themselves have changed and how they have resisted or neutralized the forces that control their lives and constrain their options" (Baber & Allen, 1992:18). By employing the oral history methodology, I was able to explore how the aspects of social organization and change manifested themselves in the everyday lives of my co-researchers. The oral history methodology, through intensive interviews, is a

relevant and appropriate instrument which I employed to identify ways in which the complex processes of change occurring in the parenting environments of my co-researchers effected change in their parenting perspectives.

The above discussion demonstrates that oral history may be one of the most powerful research methodologies through which feminist methodological themes may be unified. One such theme is the theme of 'subjectivity', which is one of the basic themes of feminist methodologies. According to this notion, the feminist researcher treats co-researchers as subjective beings. One way of facilitating this element is to encourage a reciprocal relationship or even friendship between the researcher and co-researchers during the research (Acker, Barry & Esseveld, 1991:136; Warren, 1986:4; Stacey, 1991:114; Reinharz, 1992:28). Citing Smith (1987) and Thompson (1992), Baber and Allen maintain:

"Feminist research embraces women's subjective knowledge of their own lives and thereby expands understanding of the actual experiences of women to replace what has been distorted and falsely constructed in the past with a grounded understanding of women's everyday existence." (Baber & Allen, 1992:17)

However, regardless of the quest to subjectify women, this approach has limitations. Stacey (1991), bases her criticism on her experience as researcher. She explains how, because of its nature, ethnography ends up being manipulating, betraying and exploitative

and reinforcing inequality between the researcher and the coresearchers because in the end

"the research product is ultimately that of the researcher, however modified or influenced by informants. It is a written document structured primarily by a researcher's purposes, offering a researcher's interpretations, registered in a researcher's voice." (Stacey, 1991:114)

Similarly, the notion of establishing friendships and corroboration's with the co-researchers advocated by some theorists, does not eliminate the possibility of exploitation and manipulation. The co-researchers are still objectified as they assume the role of providers of information, while the researcher is the extractor of the information. (Acker, Barry & Esseveld, 1991:141).

In an attempt to iron out these contradictions, feminist oral historians have come up with alternatives. Borland (1991), argues that researchers should interpret and analyze co-researchers' She argues that if feminist researchers abstain from narratives. doing this, we would be contradicting our basic duty of politicizing women's experiences. She suggests an interpretive and analytical model which represents both the researcher's and the participant's perspectives. By so doing, she argues, we will be presenting "our work in a way that grants the speaking woman interpretative respect without relinquishing our responsibility to provide our own interpretation of [the co-researchers'] experience" (64). Regarding the methodological problem of ethnography, Stacey, although she

does not envisage a condition of a pure feminist ethnography, comes up with the compromise that

"there can be (indeed there are) ethnographies that are partially feminist, accounts of culture enhanced by the application of feminist perspectives. There can and should be feminist research that is rigorously self-aware and therefore humble about the partiality of its ethnographic vision and its capacity to represent self and other." (Stacey, 1991:117)

It is also recommended by feminist methodologists that, in the process of presentation and analysis, we should minimize total abstraction of the co-researchers' experiences. This can be achieved by "letting data speak for itself", by incorporating a number of life histories, "expressed largely in women's own voices." (Acker, Barry and Esseveld, 1991:144). Presenting data in women's voices, however, does not imply treating women as a homogeneous group. Doing so, maintains Baber & Allen,

"obscures the richness of their thinking, experiences, and contribution and oppresses women who are not allowed to speak in their own voices. . . . We allow women to speak for themselves, avoid homogenization of women's experiences from our own perspectives. However, to appeal to a wide range and diverse audience and to facilitate an integrated 'voice', we also emphasize the commonality in women's experiences: what is universal for all members of a society, what is particular to groups, . . . and what is unique to individuals." (Baber & Allen, 1992:19).

Despite the preceding methodological compromises, we are still left with an unavoidable problem. The fact that, in the end, "the researcher must objectify the experience of the researched, translate that experience into more abstract and general terms if an analysis that links the individual to processes outside her immediate social world is to be achieved" (Acker, Barry & Esseveld, 1991:136). Based on the preceding discussion, it follows then, that it is important that feminist researchers should present women's views that is, they should strive to present the women's stories accurately; in ways that are faithful to what they said and accurately reflect their worlds and perspectives. Given this recommendation, I would, therefore, reiterate the argument that I made earlier, that oral history research methodology appears to be one of the most powerful tools to facilitate this.

To negotiate the different possible approaches discussed, presentation will draw heavily from Stacey's (1991) recommendation For the same reason she gives, I combined both discussed above. my co-researchers' and my perspectives in interpreting and analyzing my co-researchers' experiences. To further strengthen this analytical approach, I asked the women to interpret and analyze their experiences during the interviews. I approached my coresearchers' stories with an open mind, and use their words to To facilitate this, I let their voices speak as much develop themes. By so doing, I shall adequately subjectified them. as possible. Also, by using their voices, I minimized the possibility of misinterpretation on my part. Drawing from Acker, Barry and Esseveld (1991), discussed above, I ensured that while I grouped

the women's stories into common themes, I do not obscure their individual differences by constantly juxtaposing their ideas and indicating how they differ. The discussion that follows will demonstrate how I have employed oral history in my research, and how I operationalized the selected methodology.

2. RESEARCH SAMPLE

My sample consists of six women of African descent, Four of the women are from Africa, two are from African heritage. the Caribbean. All the women identify themselves as women of African descent, or in the case of one woman, of Caribbean cultural However, since the woman agreed to do the interview background. after learning that the research is about women of African descent, implies that she identifies herself with the other women. Moreover, Ellis (1986), in the introduction of her study about Caribbean maintains that although diverse cultures of the Caribbean informs the Creole culture, those of African descent forms the It has also been documented that Black women as a group majority. possess and share a unique standpoint and perspective of their experiences, although as explained above, and as maintained by Collins, "the diversity of class, region, age and sexual orientation shaping individual Black women's lives has resulted in different expressions of these common themes" (1991:37). So, my coresearchers are more likely to have a common cultural background In order to ensure that the women have enough experience of African centric culture, I looked for those women who came to Canada as adults. Another selection criteria was length of

stay in Canada. I looked for women who have at least five years of child rearing experience in Canada. The criteria was based on my own expectations that during this time, the women would have undergone some noticeable cultural changes, and would, therefore, be able to reflect on their past and explain this process of change. I also looked for those women whose children attended school, and were anywhere from grade one to twelve. I am interested in this group of children for the fact that they have a regular interaction with at least one institution outside the family. This factor would help assess the impact of such interactions on the mother-child relationship.

We have seen that feminist research advocates a reciprocal relationship, even friendship between a researcher and coresearchers (Warren, 1986:4; Reinharz, 1992:28). This aspect is satisfied by the fact that my co-researchers and I share the same heritage, and the status of motherhood. In addition, three of the women are my friends and close acquaintances and three are my friend's friends.

There are also individual differences occurring among the women. Two women are working professionals, Two women, including one of the former two, have university education, although one stays at home and home-schools her children. The other three have are post secondary certified service providers. Of the six women, four are married and live with their husbands; two are single mothers. Another different characteristic is that one woman was raised in a rural area while the rest were raised in urban areas or urban area settings.

3. INSTRUMENT

Following oral history interview guidelines, (Warren, 1986:4; Reinharz, 1992:18), I prepared informal, loosely structured and open-ended questions to encourage "the interviewee to take the lead in deciding what to talk about" (Acker, Barry & Esseveld, 1991:140). (These questions are attached in Appendix I). I structured the questions in such a way that they fulfilled the requirements of oral history interviews as proposed by Anderson and Jack (1990). propose a methodological shift from "information gathering, the focus is on the right questions, to interaction, where the focus is on process, on the dynamic unfolding of the subject's viewpoint" To accommodate this perspective, I divided the interview questions into six groups reflecting six sequential themes, The first addressing the historical development of their experiences. group of questions focused on the women's African centric socialization background and preconceptions about Canadian The second group addressed their initial experiences and perspectives and orientation experiences in Canada. The third set of questions focused on their actual interaction with their children as they perform the socialization role. The fourth set sought information on their experiences with the social institutions and the social environment with which their children interacted. group of questions required the women to reflect on their "personal construction of their experiences" (Anderson & Jack, 1990:23). The last group required the women to evaluate both the social environment and social services with the intention of identifying problematic areas and coming up with suggestions for improvement

or change. The structure and order of the questions enabled both the women and me to tap into their experiences.

4. COLLECTION OF DATA

I used interviews to provide me with firsthand information that will form the most important part of my thesis. I also used information from literature for theoretical purposes and for the purpose of substantiating and supporting my arguments.

With regard to the interviews, I first contacted my friends and acquaintances to help me find women who satisfied the requirements outlined above. After eight weeks of making about fifty phone calls and inquiries, I came up with ten women who fit the sample and were willing to do the interview. I informed the women about my research and intentions thereof. I sent the women who agreed to participate copies of the questionnaire. The aim was to acquaint my co-researchers with the questions and to give them enough time to prepare for the interview. I also wanted to give them the choice to decide whether or not they still wanted to proceed with the interview, given the questions. I provided the women with my phone number in order to call and inform me of their decision; I did not want them to feel pressurized by my calls. after three weeks of waiting, I decided to initiate the calls. Five women agreed to continue with the interview. decided not to, because of lack of time. Three never responded to my calls after repeated messages. Three of the five women who had agreed to do the interview later dropped out. Their reasons included lack of time, and desire to write down the answers rather

than be interviewed. I found a woman to fill in for one of the women. My initial sample choice was within the Lower Mainland of Vancouver, however, due to repeated setbacks, I looked into areas outside the Lower Mainland where I found three of the women. With a total of six women, I decided the sample size was large enough at this point. According to Dorothy Smith (1994), even the life history of one woman is enough to illustrate the way in which social structures operate to shape women's everyday experiences. We then scheduled dates and time for discussions.

In order to facilitate the aspect of unstructured, informal interviews, I met with the women in their homes. One woman who is a close friend decided to come to my place as it was close to her place of work.

In accordance with oral history interview methodology, I recorded the discussions on tape which I later transcribed. For the purpose of confidentiality, I destroyed the tapes immediately thereafter. I had intended to ask the women to first relate their story uninterrupted, but they felt that their experiences were very complex and suggested that I ask them questions, which I did. What I mostly stressed during the discussions in addition to giving them enough time to elaborate on their experiences, was to encourage them to identify, interpret, reflect on, analyze their situation, and in the end come up with suggestions for change. My goal was to meet the criterion of 'subjectifying' women, so that we shared the power in presenting and analyzing their experiences.

To ensure confidentiality, pseudonyms were used; however, two of the six women preferred to use their real names.

5. PRESENTATION

The format I used for the presentation of this research reflects Feminist Oral History Methodology as discussed above. however, selected what is suitable, relevant and helpful to my research from the approaches discussed above. In presenting the as recommended by feminist methodologies, I used the data. women's voices extensively, to satisfy the principle of hearing from the women's voices. Falling in line with Black feminist thought, I deliberately did very little sifting of my co-researchers' statements in order to illustrate individual differences in the way women of African descent express themselves, and to convey the multifaceted nature of their experiences. I also wanted to bring in the historical dimension as reflected in their voices as they attempt to construct meanings from their experiences. Like mothers in O' Donnell's (1985) research on experiences of contemporary mothers, my co-"by contrasting their reflections of the past with their researchers, interpretations of the present, were able to explore and relate 'the inner connections between their roles, their motivations, own manner and type of experiencing the world' " (O' Donnell, 1985:41, citing and quoting Manham, 1936).

My actual analysis draws heavily from Borland's (1991) approach of dual representation, of giving both the co-researchers and the researcher the opportunity to analyze the data. Since the women have been given the opportunity to define, interpret and analyze their experiences during the interviews, my major role was to structure the data by categorizing, arranging and summarizing common ideas emerging from discussions with my co-researchers

and finding connections between their parenting experiences and the social structures with which they interacted, much of which they did during the interviews. These ideas are then used to generate and draw conclusions. The end product of the thesis is, therefore, my presentation of the women's experiences in their own voices from their own perspective, in combination with my interpretations as informed by feminist literature and theory.

£ 000

CHAPTER III

BACKGROUND INFORMATION

1. GETTING TO KNOW ONE ANOTHER

Adua Konadu was born and raised in Ghana. She maintains, "In fact I'm African." She came to Canada in 1978. She has two daughters, whose ages were, at the time of the research, fifteen and thirteen. Both were born in Canada.

Duduza was born and raised in South Africa. She spent several years in other African countries before she came to Canada. She identifies herself as African and strongly feels that her cultural background is "deep African." At the time of the research she had already spent seven years in Canada. She has a son, who at the time of the research was twelve years old, and a Canadian born daughter, seven years old. Her son was born in Africa.

Matshidiso was also born and raised in South Africa. She, too, spent a few years in another African country. She also spent several years in the US before coming to Canada. Her fifteen year old son was born in the US, but like Duduza's daughter, was brought up in South Africa until he was eight when he came to Canada. Matshidiso identifies herself as a Motswana, which is one of the tribes in South Africa.

Elda, too, was born in South Africa. Like Matshidiso, she identifies herself according to her tribe, Sotho. What is unique in her identity is that she is the only woman among the co-researchers

who adds another dimension to her self definition, that she is

African-Canadian. Like Duduza and Matshidiso, she spent several
years in another African country before coming to Canada seven
years ago. Elda has two sons. Their ages at the time of the research
were fourteen and nine years. Both of them were born in Africa.

Naaila was born in Trinidad in the Caribbean and identifies herself as a woman of African descent. Naaila came to Canada in 1973. She has five children, three sons and two daughters. Their ages at the time of the research ranged from fourteen to six. All except the youngest were born in Canada; however, the youngest was born in Trinidad when Naaila was visiting, and came to Canada as an infant.

Veronica was born in Guyana. This is how she identifies herself:

"Well, in terms of cultural background I'm from Guyana; and that's sort of a unique situation because Guyana is on the mainland of South America. So in terms of purposes I'm South American. However, being the only English speaking country on the mainland of South America we've never allied ourselves to those Spanish and Portuguese speaking countries nearby, and instead became part of what is known as the Caribbean. So, really, I would say I'm a Guyanese and of Caribbean background."

Veronica came to Canada after having spent nine years in England. She has two daughters whose ages at the time of the research were eighteen and fifteen. The elder was born in England and the younger in Canada.

All these women left their countries as adults. This factor seems to be an important one in giving themselves identities. They In fact, they all admit that their still feel bonded to their roots. cultural background plays a big role in their parenting; Asked to rate the degree to which their cultural the Canadian one. background influences their parenting, the women rated it between seven and eight out of ten, with the remaining two and three allocated to the role played by the Canadian experience. Moreover, all the women perceive themselves as primary socializers of their although two out of the four married women maintain that Two perceive their husbands their husbands are equally involved. as major but supplementary participants. Two women are single parents, and as a result, are unassisted. However, the fact that they are all involved as primary socializers makes their experience a common one.

2. PARENTING IN HOME COUNTRIES

Elaborating on parenting in their own countries as they experienced it, each of the women gave a similar scenario to that given by other women which is embedded within the African centric way of raising children regarding important values, the socializer and parenting methods.

2.1. Important Values

The first step was to discuss what children were taught in the women's home countries. Respect, especially for elders, emerged as

the underlying factor from which all parenting activities emanate.

Matshidiso puts it this way:

"It's just a global rule that you have to respect elders."

Veronica adds:

". . . the fact that my parents were still very Caribbean in the way they raised their kids, and there was always respect for those older than you are, and age was not something to be ashamed of, but rather was something upheld with lot of respect."

Naaila maintains:

"We are actually taught how to do this you know. . . sort of had no choice. . . . to respect the elders is very important, more than the elders respecting the child you know."

Adua Konadu's statement reflects 'how to do this:

"You know when you have to talk. Perhaps an adult is talking, you can't just budge in. You have to wait till your turn When adults are having a conversation, you as a kid you can't sit there; you have to be somewhere."

Respect for elders does not only imply the younger members being polite and listening to elders. It also involves taking care of them. As Veronica maintains, "It was absolutely the responsibility of everyone to see that elderly people are cared for."

Although respect for the elders got primary emphasis, the children were also taught to respect everybody else including themselves.

"... you have to do unto others as you do to yourself, ..." (Matshidiso)

"What the mother teaches the children a lot is respect for any age, . . ." (Naaila)

"... teaching us you know, ... how to respect myself as a girl." (Duduza)

In a way, respect facilitates other sub-values, for example caring, which in return facilitates the rendering of the core value of respect. These sub- values, in addition to caring, include sharing, cooperation, helping one another. The sub-values, taken together, are very important building blocks for the sense of community. Just as it was expected that everybody takes care of the elderly,

"We were brought up to share with each other, you know, with brothers and relatives, and care not only for your immediate family but others around you, you know." (Naaila)

"... and then to cooperate with the elderly people. ... What I like about the children is that they are taught to love and share in Africa, ..." (Elda)

"There was sharing, an opportunity to share, no matter what." (Veronica)

The sense of responsibility, according to my co-researchers, was also deemed very important, hence it is introduced at a very early age, from six to twelve years. By 'responsibility' we mean the ability to carry out basic tasks in the absence of adults, and to look after one's self and other members of the family who cannot take care of themselves. Such tasks, according to my co-researchers, included taking care of themselves in hygiene, taking care of their younger siblings and preparing meals for themselves. The children were also expected to find their way around the village or the city. This factor enabled parents to send the children on errands outside the homestead without fear that they might get lost.

As is common globally, such responsibilities were gendered. Girls were not only expected to perform household duties, but also "to be financially independent in order to survive." In a way, girls received a double message by being educated for both domestic work and a career. Such "contradictory expectations" are common "as girls move into the world of school and the larger society" (Hammer, 1975:63). Girls were also expected to take more responsibility than boys while "The boys, all they had to do was to think in terms of career." Based on Adua Konadu's statement, the gender role pattern could only be overturned by a situation where

the eldest child was a boy and there was no older female relative other than the mother around. In this case the boy was expected to help with household chores as well as take care of his younger siblings just as is expected of the girl, however, to a lesser degree than a female child. Otherwise

"the boys tend to play, you know, go out and play, and usually they come home, and dinner is ready, sort of thing,..." (Adua Konadu)

The principle of responsibility appears to be strongly tied with principles of self discipline and independence. For example, all but one mother felt it is the responsibility of the child to see to it that he/she does his/her school work independent of help from home. The parent's responsibility as far as the education of their children goes lies in providing for finances, books, uniform and the necessary material facilities. Parents don't get involved "unless you get into trouble. . ." Irresponsibility on the part of the child calls for discipline.

The importance of academic education runs through the stories of four women. As Naaila puts it,

"Well, there's a strong emphasis on academics, from an early age of kindergarten . . ."

In addition, Naaila was also taught "determination and perseverance, strife for excellence, doing the best in whatever you do, being humble, ..."

2.2. The Socializer

Responding to the question 'who is responsible for socializing the children', four of the women identified the mother as the primary socializer. One woman felt it was the responsibility of the family, "if you define your family as that of being a father, mother The remaining woman identified both parents as "the and children." principal figures." Despite these different perspectives as to who in particular, is the most responsible socializer, the common thread binding the women's statements is that relatives, neighbors and community elders were also responsible for raising and disciplining all the children of the community. The joint effort made by the whole community towards the parenting of the children is revealed by the following statements. Adua Konadu had this to say:

"Where I come from it's like everybody is everybody's mother, and everybody's problem, . . . and everybody's father. Everybody knows everybody in the town, so you can't really. . . Anything you do your parents find out. Everybody looks out for everybody, . . . So everything is done by everybody watching out for everybody. . . . Everybody is involved."

Duduza commented about the role of the neighbors:

"Your neighbor is like your brother or sister. You know, it's like your neighbor is part of your family. It is not someone who is a stranger to you. You can just leave your children with your neighbor; you know that your neighbor will take care of them."

Veronica's statement reflects the order in which the responsibility was assumed:

"There was joint responsibility by everyone, if the mom was not there, usually there was a grandmother there, or some extended family, or if there was no extended family which is a rare case, there would be friends of the family who filled that extended family, and so they would assume those responsibilities."

The responsibility assumed by the older people in the community seems to endow them with the authority to administer discipline.

"and the discipline does not only come from the family appropriate, but it also comes from the extended family, and any adult who lives in the community is expected to participate in the discipline of those children because anybody who is older than you is supposed to be respected." (Matshidiso)

". . . when the child is doing something wrong there, the neighbor has the right to interfere and discipline there and then before the neighbor will come to you as the parent to talk to you." (Duduza)

"Yes, we had to respect neighbors, so that they had the rights, they were given the rights by parents to discipline us." (Naaila)

The older community members had the same disciplinary rights as the parents. Due to the fact that there was uniformity in the values and the standard of raising children, every older member of society knew when the child was "breaking the rules" and what type of punishment if any (including physical), was suitable to what type of wrong doing. Duduza responds with a chuckle:

"That is so interesting you know, it's the same, it's just the same. If the neighbor is going to use physical punishment, it's the same; your parents would have also used the same type of punishment."

Veronica concurs:

"If my mother left me with a neighbor and she saw it fit to discipline me, my mother would not intervene in that discipline. She would uphold that discipline, . . . Yes, Yes, you would know when he was breaking the rules, yes."

The fact that the type of the discipline and the upheld values, harmonizes with those of the school and church systems further solidifies this uniformity. This factor was identified by three women.

"... even in the formal education you find that there is intertwined responsibility that is expected ... there was a very thin line between what was expected of me in terms of behavior at home and in terms of behavior at school." (Matshidiso)

"... I think the British system of education, and it was very strict and, ... there was some good in it because we tended to respect authority." (Naaila)

"Well, having been under colonial rule of the British system, and also influenced by Christianity, but coupled with that was a more wider Caribbean aspect of thing . . ." (Veronica)

Despite this apparent uniformity on the aspect of discipline and the socialization process, there are exceptions. In Adua Konadu's case, this discipline is limited in that only the parents or the primary caretaker can administer physical punishment. Other adults could only go as far as admonishing the child for any wrong doing and reporting the wrong behavior to the parents.

Variations in degree occurred in individual families, also. As Naaila puts it,

"My mother was very, . . . she didn't, like other neighbors, like us to play idly, you know. We had to go on errands, then she would allow us. My family, my brothers and myself were kept very protected. We got to see other kids playing, you know, in people's yards, and in the streets, but we weren't allowed to do that. We were very protected, you know. My mother was not very sociable, and she kept us behind doors."

Naaila's story reflects a situation where differences among the women's experiences may occur. The difference as revealed by her account is a matter of degree. It does not negate the fact that a standard form of socialization existed. All the women, including Naaila, except for this slight difference, agree that they were raised

in the same way as the rest of the children in their community as far as the values and discipline were concerned.

The non parent socializer-child relationship goes beyond that of being a care taker to the child and a disciplinarian. Just like the parent, any adult has the right to send any child for errands in the absence of her own and/or when stranded, without any fear.

"I'd be walking on the road, and my mom's friend would call me up, tell me to go run errands for her, and when I go home and I'm late, my mom asks me how come you're late, so I'd say, I saw this person, your friend, and she wanted me to go pick up this and that; no problem."

The general pattern of the adult-child relationship is that any adult in the community assumes the role of the biological parent when deemed necessary. The children, too, relate to the adult as they would do to their own parents. However, this relationship reflects a more complicated pattern.

The involvement of "everybody" does not go without hierarchy in terms of who carries out which parenting responsibilities in the absence of the parents. The grandparents, especially the grandmother, were found to occupy the highest level of this hierarchy which, for the most part, interchanges with that of the biological parents. They play the first and crucial role in the parenting role both during short term and long term absence of the biological parents. In the case where the grandmother is a member of the family, she is constantly involved in the socialization of her

grandchildren. This important role is vividly remembered by Duduza.

"Oh, grandparents, I'd say they are everything. Here (in Canada) they'll say you are a psychologist, but I don't know what to call our grandparents because they were everything. They'd be there for the children, they'd be there for your parents. The divorce wasn't so much because they'll always be there. If there is something going wrong with your mom and your dad, your grandmother is there, and they'll talk you know, and then you know, they'll solve the problem."

As reflected in Duduza's statement, the role of the grandparents went beyond that of the socialization of the grandchildren. It also included that of resolving conflicts within the family. In a way, their involvement in such conflicts also facilitated a healthy and solid socialization environment for the children by minimizing the possibility of divorce.

During the long term absence of the mother, grandmothers played the role of surrogate mothers. For example, Elda and Adua Konadu were both raised by their grandmothers. In both cases, the mother was hardly home due to employment. So this is relevant for their current experience. They must raise their children as mothers, while they may not have a very full mother-child model to draw from because they were raised by their grandmothers; however, uniformity of parenting will minimize any major differences from women who were raised by their birth mothers. The general pattern is that relatives who were part of the family (the inside relatives) got almost as equally involved as the parents. Those who did not live with the family (the outside relatives) would

spontaneously play their part in times of need, the factor that placed them in the second, yet flexible, hierarchical level depending on their specific roles and need.

The place occupied by the neighbors on this hierarchical ladder appears to be determined by geographical proximity between the family and the 'outside relatives', which in most cases, places the neighbors closer to the family than the latter on a daily basis. this case the neighbors, who would otherwise occupy the third level, find themselves occupying the second level, and on other occasions By virtue of this proximity, they find themselves the first one. assuming more socialization responsibility than the outside relatives. They interact with the family on a daily basis, and are the first to take on the responsibility of either the 'inside relatives' or the parents in times of need. This is why children were never really on As stated by Matshidiso, "There was always somebody their own. Despite this responsibility, neighbors would very rarely, if around" ever, be given responsibility for long term care and socialization. This was almost exclusively the responsibility of the relatives. Elda notes:

"Extended families normally participate when there is a crisis in the family, but I've never witnessed any outsiders raising strange children."

Instead, if there was no relative already present in the home, an unattached, responsible relative would be called to live with the children, or in the absence of such a relative, the children would move to live with the outside relative.

The rest of the community (whether an acquaintance or a stranger) would normally occupy the fourth level. They would intervene in the socialization process whenever they felt the need. In my experience, the elders or the colleagues of the parents would even intervene in the presence of the parents. As already cited as part of a quotation, "Everybody looks out for everybody."

Laid out by the discussion, the role played by the extended family, the relatives, the neighbors and the community at large, reflects a strong community system from which the mother draws support in the process of raising her children.

2.3. Parenting Methods

Parenting uniformity also extends to the methods used. The women mentioned various methods used in the socialization process, including discipline. Among other ways, children learned by observation. This is how Adua Konadu learned how to cook.

"... you kind of when you're growing up, when your parents are cooking, you're always sitting there . . . you're sitting over there by the pot, and charcoal, throwing it in; and you know, your parents put the ingredients in the pot, you should supply it, and that's the way you learn to cook. . . . So you just watch and by eight [years old], you can be cooking something."

One other popular method of encouraging accepted values comprised folklore and "scary stories" told to younger children.

Naaila still has a vivid memory of such stories.

"I remember my grandmother talk about scary things that would happen to you if you go out after dark; so we were sort of discouraged to go out, especially not long ago; but that made us develop morals you know. Looking back, you wouldn't wanna go out there because you'd remember all those scary stories, and that way it was entertaining at the same time."

Should the children continue to fail to abide by the rules, after they had been talked to, they would be punished. Corporal punishment in the form of spanking, smacking or caning seemed to emerge as one of the common types of punishment which was used both at home and at school.

"You got a lot of punishment by smacking; and in fact when I was at primary school we still got that kind of punishment during the school period for things that you might have done wrong. I remember still being caned for missing a few mathematical questions, et cetera. So, there was a lot of that still." (Veronica)

"... if the children do not cooperate, corporal punishment is applied. . . " (Duduza)

"There was corporal punishment, kids getting spanked quite often, that's most of what I can remember, . . ."
(Naaila)

The women's narratives about their socialization background informs us that regardless of their country of origin, they are bound together by the thread of African centricity, as illustrated by their self

The women's stories about their childhood identification. experiences also reflect this thread. They were generally raised in The differences were mainly of degree, where some the same way. parents might be stricter than others. Their family and social structures, as revealed by their stories, reflect strong similarities. Their experience and heritage resembles that explained by the African centric theoretical viewpoint as discussed above. women appear to have been socialized according to basic African Authors writing on African centric socialization have centric values. identified the importance of the values of respect, sharing and cooperation, and early responsibility. (Kaye, 1962; Levine & Levine, 1966; Assimeng, 1976; Amadi, 1982; Babatunde, 1992;). authors also reported on the supportive role played by the extended family and participatory parenting by the community at large.

It follows, then, that the women carry with them a different sense of identity and philosophy that is different from the Canadian which is patterned after the western philosophy as outlined above. Their unique identity will inform a common parenting experience which is different from that of Canadian born mothers, although differences in the way in which they approach their parenting may occur.

It should be noted that this background information is from the women's perspectives as experienced at a particular point in time.

Some of this information might not be representative of the present situation in these women's home countries. The information is, however, vital in demonstrating how their past experience

influences the way they interpret and perceive their parenting parenting in Canada.

CHAPTER IV

CANADIAN EXPERIENCE

1. PRECONCEPTIONS ABOUT CANADIAN PARENTING

Four of the women did not have any idea about parenting issues in Canada. They did not even think in terms of this area. They just assumed that children were raised the same way as in their home countries. This is what Adua Konadu said when she was asked about her expectations of Canadian parenting.

"Well, when I was coming, I was very ignorant when it comes to this. I thought everybody or every country is the same as where I come from myself, the same thing as in Canada."

Duduza too, echoed lack of such knowledge:

"To be honest, you know, I didn't know that much. I just thought that children are being raised the same way."

She not only made this assumption, but she also did not think in terms of parenting even though she already had a child and was expecting another because

"..., I didn't think that I would stay that long; so it was something temporary and then I found myself here for seven years."

Of the four women, Veronica's experience in England gave her a different perspective on her expectations. She did not expect a situation similar to that of Guyana. She based her expectations on the fact that both Canada and England are industrialized countries. This is what she thought:

". . .I figured that it would be exactly like it was in England, . . ."

Only Matshidiso and Naaila had some idea about Canadian parenting, which they got from reading and movies. This is what Naaila learned from Canadian movies:

"I saw the differences with my culture. I saw a more relaxed, less demanding or expectant [situation]. The Canadian parents would encourage their children to be more expressive; like in my culture if the child becomes too expressive, that could be considered as disrespectful,

As a result, she not only "expected that to be true", but also formed fantasies based on the images.

"I did fantasize about having children here; and what I fantasized about was being able to bring them up in a less strict way than I was brought up because the culture here was like that, and I did fantasize about being able to bring up my children in that way and not being ostracized; but I was afraid of the too much freedom; like they were less worried about morality and all that kind of lifestyle I was coming from."

When she came to Canada, Matshidiso was aware of Canadian child protective laws. This is what she said:

"And I had also known before I came here that raising children also involves welfare laws from the government that protect children from certain things that happen within the family, . . . I read a little about it, especially when I learned while I was still in South Africa, about children in Canada being able to call 911 if they feel that they are being abused by their parents, . . ."

It is evident from the women's stories that they knew very little or nothing about Canadian parenting prior to arrival to Canada.

2. 'WELCOME TO CANADA'

Once in Canada, the women found themselves faced with a series of challenges, cultural shocks, surprises, confusion, frustrations and new discoveries in a social environment entirely different from the one they knew. These were related to accessing information, demanding parenting, Canadian children, the vulnerability of children and materialism.

First, on arrival none of the women claims to have been officially provided with information about raising or socializing children in Canada, particularly for immigrant parents. Such information would include a list of available parenting resources and programs, expectations from parents, Canadian children, child protective policies, children's rights, or any other information which might simplify parenting for arriving immigrant parents. Neither did they receive any referrals on where or how to obtain such

information even though two of them were accompanied by their children (Veronica and Elda), and one was visibly pregnant (Duduza). The only information one woman claimed to have received was about the location of schools. Elda had the following to say about unavailability of such information.

"I did not get much information about socializing children in Canada when I came. The only information I got was that of school, where schools were situated and so on, because my elder son had to go to school.

She also did not get enough information regarding parenting resources and programs:

"I didn't know them at that time. All I knew was I got information from my children's school that there was a daycare center, and they told me how to get daycare centers for my children. That was it. I didn't get any information about socializing my children in Canada."

For the remaining women, responses were 'No' for three of them, and 'Nothing' for one. Due to lack of knowledge regarding information on parenting resources, some of the women found themselves frustrated. Matshidiso had expected her son's school to provide her with the information she needed but the school did not have it. As a result, she found herself going from one place to the other in search of the much needed information. This is how she relates her experience in this respect.

". . . I did not find much information. I ended up asking churches about information as what I could do to get help in terms of the upbringing of a child in a different culture. . . . the idea I had was to find out from social workers, but all they had was daycare, and camps, and they said that the school that my child goes to would provide such information; so I learned later that the school would be able to give me information, and they did."

Absence of such vital information on arrival delayed access to this information. It took the women an average period of four years before obtaining such crucial information about parenting. For Elda, the delay was very long. She had just found out about parenting programs "just about a month ago [at the time of research] from my nursing program. . ."

The main reason for the delay seems to have stemmed from lack of awareness as to whether such information existed and, if so, where to obtain it on the part of the women. Only one woman maintains she did not bother to find out since she was not a mother at the time of arrival. Two of the women, however, were able to access such information within a few months of their arrival. them is Matshidiso, who, perhaps due to her background in social work, had an idea that such information had to be available somewhere, somehow. The other is Adua Konadu. Her advantage over the other women was that her husband, who works with social services, provided her with formal parenting information. addition, the fact that she and her husband are foster parents meant she got first hand experience by getting directly involved with

Canadian children on a daily basis. This makes her information system more diverse that the rest of the women.

Partly due to scarcity of formal information pertaining to child rearing, the women found themselves relying more on acquaintances, friends, relatives (in the case of Naaila) and the children themselves for information, advice and knowledge regarding the issues of child rearing. On other occasions, the media was used as a pool of information. Asked as to how they initially got any parenting information, those women who did not have the opportunity to access formal information gave the following answers.

"I just heard from the news, and also from my friends. We talked, Canadian friends." (Duduza)

"It's just through the interaction of my children with other kids when they come here, you know. I sort of observe how the kids interact with their parents, how my children interact with the other kids and how they behave and so on. So, I didn't get it from a written thing, it's just through my own observations, my conclusions, my personal meaning and so on." (Elda)

"I think the first way I learned about this was I made friends. . ." (Veronica)

There are, however, other women who did a lot of research on this issue as they became more acquainted with the Canadian social environment. For example, although Naaila was not provided with any information pertaining to parenting on arrival she "read a lot" about the issue, and especially when she became a parent. Her account is as follows:

"Well, actually, the moment I became a parent that was my..., I made it my business to find out about as much information about parenting as I could and got involved in different groups; and they have a lot of information about parenting skills. I made it my business to make myself part of it."

Whereas Canadian-born mothers may use similar methods as immigrant mothers to access parenting resources, the reality is that the former group of women has an advantage over the latter. The former group is already familiar with the environment; they have been socialized in it. They already have relatives, friends and acquaintances to provide them with relevant information. In contrast, immigrant mothers rarely have such support readily available as they usually leave their relatives and friends behind. They begin by fumbling, and as pointed out above, take long periods of time before accessing information. In addition, whilst Canadian-born mothers might be looking for some of the best programs, immigrant mothers might be desperate to find whatever program is available.

Second, these mothers realized that parenting in Canada is a very demanding task, especially in the absence of social support systems they were used to back in their home countries, in particular the extended family. They feel parents are expected to play a much bigger role than they were used to when it comes to

daily care giving. This is what some of the women said about the situation.

"I think I was surprised when I arrived to realize that the amount of effort given by the parents to raise their children [was overwhelming] you know." (Elda)

"And also the mother's role was very much exhausting in the sense that if she were to keep up with the expectations she had to, then it was almost like a full time job to chauffeur these kids back and forth to expected things that were necessary to do, be like other kids." (Veronica)

"I find that I do many things in the house, there is no help; children are there; they are always there for me. I carry all the responsibilities; there is no one who can relieve me; but if I do, I have to pay someone to do that." (Duduza)

Third, having been raised with the basic value of respect inculcated in them, the women were also shocked by the cultural difference pertaining to Canadian value system, especially that of respect. The basic observation is that Canadian children give less respect than the children from their own countries. The following are some of the observations made by Duduza, Elda, Naaila, Matshidiso and Adua Konadu respectfully in relation to Canadian children.

". . . kids here are just spoilt."

". . . I don't think children here are well disciplined because some of them are disrespectful to the elderly, and always my own children don't listen, don't listen all They only hear me talk. They only hear me the time. talk but they never listen. Even when they listen sometimes they argue with you. They communicate with me as if they are at the same level with me. Whereas in Africa, when I was growing up I used to communicate with my parent as a parent who is at a higher level than me. . . . in Canada children communicate with an elderly person as if they are at the same level. . . . And from my own personal meaning about bad behavior it's like being disrespectful."

"They had less respect for elders and the elders didn't mind and all that."

"Even the way they regard their elders, is far different [less respectful] from what we would do in Africa."

"... just taking my children out and watching other children, the way I was raised, I guess I told myself, I have to do better than what I am seeing, you know, the way they talk to their parents, screaming at their parents when they're asking something, ... That's what I found. We go out with other kids, we watch the kids, how they're screaming at their moms, 'no, you go get it, it's yours, why can't you get it', My kids can't tell me that. When I say, 'can you get me that, please,' you get it, you bring it here. But they say, 'can you get me that?' 'No, you go get it. Why should I go get it? You have legs to walk; go get it.' So, I tell my kids, see that, there's no way you are going to talk like that to me. You don't talk like that to me."

Only one woman did not comment about the behavior of Canadian children in particular. Nevertheless, the experience she had in the parenting course she attended reflected a different set of values and beliefs. This is what she said in this respect.

"I did a parenting course which for me was really interesting- because you mentioned values- and I found myself quite often at the other end when we did a little test. I was..., my values and beliefs were a little way out from a lot of other people's, and that was interesting."

One other factor which some women found appalling was the age at which Canadian children engage in adult activities like smoking, staying out late, dating, and applying make up. They think that the age is too early, when comparing it to how they have been raised. This is Adua Konadu's observation:

"I see people at my daughter's age, at this time of the night [later than eight in winter], and I ask myself: what would a fourteen year old, nine year old, ten year old be doing there? Their parents probably don't know where they are,... I live here. This field, summer time, nine o'clock, ten o'clock, they're screaming their heads off, just thinking they are having fun. . . . But you see them out there, with all their make up, ... but for a ten year old with lipsticks and makeup; you don't need it. You're ten years old. . . . Kids smoking, who are not even like, . . .So I came here and see all these twelve year olds, ten year olds smoke and that surprised me. But it's their way of life, they're living it. The kids are not allowed to do it but the peers, and they see it and they do it. Kids being kids, and not having boyfriends at age twelve and thirteen, and their parents accepting it at their

homes. I remember one time I went to the movie, two years ago, and there was a family of mother, father, son and the girlfriend which I thought was her sister; and they were not more than fourteen years old. . . . as long as they were together I don't have a problem with that; but every two minutes they've been there kissing, kissing, kissing. That drove me crazy. . . . Kids being kids, and adults being adults. I wouldn't wanna sit in a movie theater, or in my house with my thirteen year old, with my fourteen year old, sitting with their boyfriends, apart from me, every two minutes kissing."

Matshidiso commented:

". . . children live a very fast life here. They get into several other things that are somehow dangerous and somehow too far much beyond their age, for instance smoking. . . ., you find that they are allowed to do certain things; the age of driving is different from what could have been allowed at home, the age of drinking is different from what would be allowed in Africa. mean is that to me it's too soon at sixteen. I think that a child at sixteen is still trying to battle with being an adult and a teenager. In Africa, I find that for my generation when you reached nineteen and twenty that was the time when at least you were set to know that you are an adult and you were ready to get married and you were able to take up responsibility of either choosing whether you want to involve yourself in things like drinking; but here children even start at age twelve."

Duduza, too, was shocked to see "nine year olds smoking", and to add to her shock, no adult intervened. Elda, on the other hand, does not expect her fifteen year old son to smoke or kiss girls.

The women have a common perception of Canadian children's behavior as less desirable than they are used to; however, they have individual differences in the way they interpret Canadian children's behavior in relation to their children. Other women, Veronica and Elda in particular, include their own children in this perception; so that their children are "just like" the rest of the However, one woman, tends to perceive her children they know. children's behavior as separate from the rest, yet [the behavior], fluctuating between that of Canadian children what she expects. An interesting factor is that she tend sto use these perceptions as reference in their parenting. Her words, "I guesss I told myself, I have to do better . . . " and "So, I tell my kids, . . . " indicate this.

Fourth, was the shock expressed by some of the women in relation to the vulnerability of the children in Canada. They felt that children in Canada are more likely to be abducted or killed than in their home countries. This is what some of the women said on this issue.

... children here, they are being kidnapped, they arebeing killed, ... I won't even say children are safe you know. There are lots of things which are going on, which, well ... there are lots of things which happen to children, which are done by the adults." (Duduza)

"When I came here I was shocked to be confronted by the vulnerability of the kids. I think the children are quite vulnerable in Canada because there's lots of kidnapping. You always have to protect your children. And I was not aware of that. But you know in Africa as I said a child of nine can just go around, it's not a common thing for children to be kidnapped and so on. So, children are very safe. When I came here, I learned that children are not quite safe. I didn't really appreciate it how children are protected all the time."
(Elda)

Sometimes, despite the safety of children in Africa, circumstances may arise which may threaten the safety of children. Elder is aware of this fact. She maintains:

"I know for instance in South Africa during the riots, kids can get lost, and they can lose their houses due to fear for the Boers but at the same time abusing and kidnapping is not common in South Africa."

The women's perceptions about children tend to be in conflict.

On the one hand, in terms of behavior, the children are perceived deviant. On the other hand, in terms of safety, we see the maternal protective love taking over as they are perceived as vulnerable victims.

Fifth, the women were also appalled by the value attached to materialism reflected in Canadian society, which, in their opinion, is unrealistically high as compared to the way in which they were raised. They think that Canadian society is more concerned with what a person has than what a person is. The women had the following observations to communicate regarding the issue.

"It's this thing of presents all the time. If there is any holiday it means you have to buy something. You know there is a birthday, you have to buy something." (Duduza)

"Children are given this and that, and socialized and stuff, . . . lots of material things." (Elda)

"I suddenly realized that in all the places [she has been] it was the person that counts and here it was material acquisition that counts . . . Here children have lots of expectations of material things, lots of toys and things like I've never seen before, and acquisition of lots of material things." (Veronica)

The way children are socialized in Africa is that, . . . they have to make their own toys, . . . but children here in Canada have plenty of material to use in terms of education and socialization. They have plenty of toys, they have plenty of things like Nintendos and all that." (Matshidiso)

It appears over provision of material things becomes problematic when it focuses on the individual child, and when individual parents are expected to be the sole providers. However, they tend to welcome the materialistic world provided by the social services and intended to be shared by everybody. The women had positive experiences in relation to the material environment as a place that facilitates social activities for children. Naaila made the following observation in this respect.

"Well, I think that Canadians are very fortunate to have a lot of resources and in formation and opportunities for their children that I didn't have as a child in my country, . . . because I see the Canadian social environment as having enough resources to have effective parenting skill. . .; but there's a rift in cultural aspect in that women who come from countries like my country, they don't give enough of their skills. . ."

In support, Elda remarked:

"but in Canada there are . . . beautiful parks, and so on; so I think I was very impressed when I first came to Canada to realize that there is lot of effort put in to socialize kids. . . my eldest son plays basketball and soccer and he benefits from it because he exercises; and also my younger son, too, I take him to hockey and I think he benefits from that institution, too.. . . There's lots of material things for the children, swimming pools, parks, and movie theaters and so on; at the same time, my children are very vulnerable here in Canada, like with regards to racial discrimination, they are very vulnerable. . . . if there is negativity out there, we, as visible [minorities], will be afraid to even go and use the facilities available, fearing that you know, you come back home upset. . ."

Matshidiso added:

"And the other thing is they've got parks and areas and centers where you can take your child- the beach and what have you. If you like your child to learn more about external enjoyment, you can do that; you have an option. And if you like to learn more about internal games and you keep your child indoors, you have that option, whereas at home, given the situation, you only

have one option. . . . So, I think they have more options on the way you can choose to parent your child, depending on your life style."

Veronica, too, noticed the same factor:

"The good things that I saw in the community was that the kids were pretty actively learning good things; and that if you have the time, they could learn lots. There was such a wide scope of athletic and educational things that they could learn, with the mother having time to do that, or the father, or both parents."

One woman commended Canada for its well developed infrastructure which facilitated a high level of accessibility which makes her parenting easier. This is what she said:

"I think mobility here is very high and fast. It's easy to go and reach your child after work within a short space of time: and another thing is having a telephone you know, you can connect, and also being able to access your friends. So, I think that balances [absence of extended family because] you have other equipment that you can use to be in touch with your family, and to do parenting from a distance as I will call it, parenting from work."

Whereas the women have expressed their concerns with regard to the safety of their children, one woman was, at the same time impressed by "the way in which women are protecting their children." One woman feels Vancouver is a safer place than many

places in the world as far as crime is concerned. Her argument is as follows:

"The only thing I like about being in Vancouver is that, and I know there is [a high]crime rate all over the world but I think Vancouver has so far proved to be a safe area to bring up a child, away from wars, and away from hard things."

Elda, in particular, was impressed by the level of caring and support provided by the Canadian government for single mothers as they raise their children.

"and I like the way, you know, in Canada even if you are not married, you can still get a place where you can raise your children. That's one thing I like. The environment is good in that women can always get away. We can always go on with our lives without the men being there."

Veronica made the following comment regarding the care provided to children:

I realized that the children were very well provided for as far as health care and other basic services like that."

In support, Duduza observed that

"There are daycares you know, there are people who can take in your children if you want to be relieved; but you have to pay them, which is difficult for other women to do that. . ."

It appears, however, that availability of these positive factors does not always guarantee accessibility. There are limiting factors. Veronica identifies unavailability of parents and time as determining factors to accessibility. Matshidiso identifies the lifestyle of the family as one of the constraints. These two factors may heavily affect employed single mothers, as is the case of the two women who raised these concerns. Racism, as indicated by Elda's account above, may be another limiting factor. In addition, poverty, a factor identified by Elda during the interview, may also set limitations to those women who cannot afford to pay for certain available services and social facilities and activities.

The above discussion demonstrates that Canadian culture is foreign to my co-researchers. Cultural differences do exist. Such differences shape the women's perceptions of Canadian culture. What may be regarded as relevant by Canadians may be interpreted otherwise by these women, since they use their pre Canadian notions of reality to explain their experiences in Canada. This problem is further compounded by unavailability of relevant information to help immigrant mothers to adapt easily, in particular those who come from countries outside the west.

3. THE PARENTING ACTIVITY

As parents, the women draw both from their African centric and Canadian experiences, although they maintain that they are

influenced more by the former than the latter. Asked to rate the degree to which their cultural background and Canadian experience each influences their parenting on a scale of zero to ten, whereby zero represented 'not at all' and ten represented 'everything', three women rated the pre Canadian experience at seven and the Canadian experience at three, two women at eight and two respectively. Only one woman seems to balance both experiences with the former rating at six and the latter at five.

These two frameworks constitute a pool of parenting information and knowledge and ideas from which the women select only what they need to facilitate the type of parenting they want.

Ultimately, each woman emerges with a personal parenting framework, unique to her situation. Veronica had this to say in this regard:

"I have probably a combined attitude based on my own experiences; but also as I became an adult there was certain things I didn't like, but I did not completely have this authoritarian rule with my kids. They could reason with me and all that; and I didn't believe in the smacking business too much, . . . I thought that was excessive in the Caribbean. So, I'm tempted to say a more diplomatic approach. And also I did not encourage my children with formalized religion because there is some conflict in my mind, and also wanted my kids to be able to reason things out for themselves "

Supporting this view, is Naaila.
"I find it very important to make distinctions and to see where you could make it better using their method, or where you can disregard their method you know, change whatever you have to change. I do live in Canada and

my children are Canadians; they are not Trinidadians.

So I have to sort of adapt to them in a positive way. ... I try not to be dictative, but my parents would say I am a little more relaxed, but not as relaxed as the Canadian culture. ... It was like a blend, like I drew from each, but a lot of that stems from how I grew up, my own experiences."

Surprisingly, despite these individual differences, the six basically socialize their children in the same way. This commonality is reflected by what they teach their children as illustrated by the discussion that follows.

3.1. Content and method

All the women believe that in order for their children to develop "well rounded" and solid personalities, they, as parents, have to work towards building their children's self esteem. Naaila's standpoint on this issue is as follows:

"I teach my children to accept themselves, believe in themselves, love themselves before they love anybody, . . . and to feel good about the good things that they do, and to feel when they do something that is not acceptable by society or whatever, to feel that is wrong."

Building on the children's self esteem is a multi dimensional procedure which, among other factors, involves teaching the children about their people, their history, their culture, food, and language. Excerpts from Elda's story substantiate this factor. She maintains:

"Actually, I teach my children African history and culture and how to behave and so on, and their language and their food, . . . their subculture, too. Because . . . knowing your history makes you have a higher self esteem; that's what I think. That's why I think it's very important to know your history. It sort of makes your self esteem to go a little bit higher; but if you don't know your past, you'll have a low self esteem. You have to know yourself."

Elda's conviction about this fact draws from observing the behavior of her sons during and some time after these lessons.

Asked if she finds that all what she teaches her children help cultivate their self esteem she replied:

"Yeah, I think it really helps. It does help; and it's quite good for them. You know, I've noticed them. When we start educating them, they seem to be very interested and cooperative; more cooperative than ever. They are so much in the tune and nice. You can see that they become happy."

From the women's perspectives, attainment of self esteem is invaluable not only because it builds on their children's self identity, but also because they believe it will help them cope with many kinds of situations outside the home. Elda gives her own opinion:

"First of all you know, when they are in the class, they can always be answerable to their past history. . . . If they know their culture and their history, then they will interact even better . . . and they will contribute with

their own subculture to the Canadian culture. They can be like spokesmen for Africans, you know."

Veronica too, felt it was important for her children to learn about themselves, their ethnicity and background as a way of "boosting their self esteem at home and encouraging a pride in who they were". However, she, unlike the rest of the women, not only concentrates on teaching her daughters about themselves per se, but to also accept and understand beliefs and customs of other cultures because she thinks that

"... in order for them to survive as people, and to have good survival skills and adaptability skills and to be comfortable with who they are, they need to learn about other people and things and places."

Supporting these women, Matshidiso, too, believes that building self identity in the child is necessary basically because

"When we talk about African Descent, we know that we look Black, and we are Black. A person who sees you already knows that, and they are going to identify you as such. If you don't know enough about yourself, you are going to be confused about what messages people are sending to you to an extent you don't feel confident with whatever they call you. But if you know who you are and you accept who you are, it doesn't matter how other people perceive you as long as you know who you are. And if we don't give our children that, they don't have a foundation; they don't have anything to stand on. . . . and they know their origin, they know what their people

stand for, they know who their people are, and therefore, with that, they would accept themselves much better."

The statements above are consistent with African centric As discussed in the introduction, this philosophy stresses 'self knowledge' of an individual as one of the building The women, too, identify this factor as blocks of African centricity. an inevitable foundation towards the achievement of 'person'. The theme of "an extended self" also runs through their stories. In this case, the self extends beyond the boundaries of sameness, reflected in African centricity, to include a different environment, including its culture and its people. The women, therefore, their children to develop the type of 'self knowledge' that will allow them to carry their identity outside to this different world without losing themselves.

The methods that these women employ to inculcate self esteem show a strong similarity. They range from 'holding a conference in the house', discussions about "past stories", buying and reading African centric books, playing African music, watching and discussing TV shows about African history and culture and encouraging them to participate in African cultural events. In the process, they inculcate self acceptance by 'telling them positive things about themselves" as people of African descent. The objective, according to the mothers, is to counteract the negative images portrayed by the media and "some ignorant" Canadians about Africa or their countries of origin. They also attempt to inculcate a

sense of pride and self worth in their children as individuals, as people of African descent and as a race.

Some women may take drastic measures for this purpose.

Naaila took her children out of school and is 'home schooling' them.

Her account is as follows:

"There are many reasons why I took them out of school, but I really felt that they didn't have enough time to learn about where they came from, not only just from my country but beyond that; their culture and specifically I make it a point they learn about that you know, not just general. I become very specific. I teach them about culture, specifically about how children were disciplined and how effective it was, and what was wrong with it, what was right with it, about the intelligence, education, civilization, how their people or people in my country or even in Africa, how they were a civilized country and not as the media portrays them. Because they didn't know. They were taught the wrong things."

The reason why she teaches them "these things" is

"Because I believe that is the main step in building self esteem. I believe every one identifies with their race and their accomplishments. And we are Black people. If my children can see themselves, I mean not just as individuals but a race, as coming from a race of people that were intelligent, educated, civilized you know, positive in themselves, then this is a basis for gaining self esteem you know. I believe that."

The women also inculcate in their children the value of respect.

As discussed earlier, this is the most basic value that the women

were taught as children. This value is basically what five women

perceived as one of the most important lessons that they pass over to their children.

"I would say I try to give them the idea that I am their parent, and I should have a certain amount of control as far as decisions about their safety and livelihood, and so, I demand a certain amount of respect from them: . . . "(Naaila)

She further reiterates the statement:

"First I raise my children to respect me as their parent, and their father as their parent; and then to respect each other, and themselves, and the outside community."

Agreeing with her is Matshidiso who maintains:

"On the culture and the beliefs that I've been raised with, I believe that you have to respect adults because they are more wiser; because they've been through that whole and know what they are talking about whenever they say certain things; and I've made my son believe that as his parent, I'll never steer him wrong deliberately."

Adua Konadu regards discipline as a vehicle towards attainment of respect. Following is her response to the question what values she instills in her children:

"Discipline. How to talk to a grown up. If you are doing something wrong, and some grown up sees you and says to you, listen, what you are doing is wrong, and you know it's wrong, you should get away from that, O.K.! . . . discipline is very important to me, you know. They have to be able to know how to talk to their parents, and talk to peers, older person, from a new born baby to an adult. You have to have different levels of talking to them, because they are all different age groups."

The women adjust their parenting in order to suit situations in which they find themselves. This adjustment is demonstrated in the way in which Naaila teaches her children the value of respect. She notes that there is a difference between her and her parents when it comes to this. She maintains:

"But the difference between my parents and I is that I teach my children to give respect where it's earned, and to respect anybody; but if somebody doesn't give you respect, then you don't have to bend over."

Only two women feel they have, in Veronica's words, "lost out to some extent" as far as inculcating the value of respect. Veronica bases her loss on lack of the extended family structure.

"... because if I wanted to teach them respect of the elderly I would have them experience the elderly, and for me, they haven't done so; and they haven't experienced extended family and interaction with extended family..."

Elda's reasons for losing out, on the other hand, point a finger at the Canadian social environment. Apart from the fact that she sees the problem as a Canadian child's way of relating to the elderly, she also blames the media. She explains:

"You see, the problem is the TV too. You socialize your own children, but the TV socializes your children too."

Too much emphasis on respect for adults on the part of the children may, at times be problematic as is the case with Adua Konadu's children. She has observed that they find it difficult to stand up for themselves in situations where an adult may accuse them of something they did not do. In their mother's words

"When somebody is [accusing them], they just listen, whether [the accuser is] right or wrong. . . . But sometimes, they stand there and they listen, you know, and it's like, 'I don't know why this person is mad at me because I didn't do that'. Meanwhile [the accuser is] there, screaming at them, you know."

bell hooks (1988), discusses this type of silence, how it is manifested, and its repercussions. She maintains that emphasis on respect and the tendency to discourage children to "talk back" at adults produces unassertive children. Similar arguments which have been made by western authors about Nigerian children have long been challenged as "an invalid conclusion" based on the fact that "there have never been comparative studies carried between [in this case] Nigerian children at work and their counterparts elsewhere in

the world" (Amadi, 1982:55, citing Sefolo). Instead, inculcation of the value of respect in children is viewed as a positive factor. A child brought up with this value, as argued, will "automatically respect any elder regardless of tribe and race". a characteristic which, "if adopted world wide", may offset ethnic or racial discrimination. (Amadi, 1982:55, citing Sefolo). Fortunately, Adua Konadu and her daughters are working on their children's assertiveness to overcome the girls' silence.

The mothers also teach their children how to cope with racism. Racial issues are part and parcel of the women's relationships with their children. All the women had been confronted with the issue at some point during their parenting. What is common among them is the approach to the issue, which is to wait until their children bring up the issue. Matshidiso's response demonstrates this factor. She relates:

"The way I do it is always wait until something happens, so that he will be able to relate what I'm telling him to the issue. So I don't sit down with him formally and say, this is what people are going to treat you like, and this is how you should respond. What I do is I always wait for the situation to happen; and for example, just like where people are unable to get along racially."

Such racial incidents usually occur at schools and daycare centers. The women's stories reveal various dynamics in which the racism manifests itself. First, racism may be blatant. Their children may experience racism directly as individuals in the form of "name calling" and labeling. This type of racism appears to be the

most common one the women deal with. All of the women's children experienced it. They have been called "racial slurs" like "nigger" and "buckweed".

Second, there is institutionalized racism which is a subtle. indirect form of racism occurring within institutions of power. This may be in the form of policies which exclude or marginalize full recognition and/or participation of certain racial or cultural groups (Billingsley, 1968:152; Krauter & Davies, 1978:1, 2). In the case of these women and their children, this type of racism may occur when the school curriculum fails to accommodate the needs of minority Racism may also occur when the victimized children tend children. to believe and internalize racial messages they receive, and later acting them out upon themselves. Veronica's daughters "have had a few problems" with each of the three forms of racism. This is what she said regarding the issue:

"First of all [institutionalized] I thought that they didn't receive an appreciation of their own culture; it was always Scottish night or Irish night or something like that. . . . And then [direct] they braided their hair, and for a while you wouldn't believe this in Vancouver; but it caused such an upheaval in the school because they were told to wash it out, you know, to wash it out, to get it out, to get rid of it and all that sort of stuff. . . . So, they had incidents and they had children ask them what is it like to be Black you know. . . And then [internalized] the other thing that kind of gave me a stir was when my daughter wanted contact lenses that were blue, and I kinda think, oh, dear, you know, we have an identity crisis or something here."

Internalized racism, which is the product of the first two types of racism, seems to threaten a child's self esteem and self value.

The last statement about contact lenses demonstrates a situation where a child's 'self identity' might not be solid enough to withstand outside pressure to be like the rest.

The women dealt with blatant racism in different ways. Adua Konadu took her children out of the situation by having them registered at what I shall term a 'race friendly' school. women armed their children with the tools of dealing with the Dealing with the issue is not an easy task; situation themselves. some women it is a very complicated, highly emotional and controversial matter. Sometimes it involves acting against one's principles and values, due to the helplessness that accompanies this unpleasant experience. Duduza, displayed an expression of sadness and disappointment at the way she handled the issue. After repeated complaints from her son that some kids at school called him a nigger, she felt she had no alternative but to act contrary to her values which are:

"... what I teach them is positive. I don't put othe people down because of the way they are, because of their color; I just make sure that my kids they know that they're equal as like any one else."

Yet she found herself having to make a "difficult" choice:

"You know, he couldn't even defend himself there and then. He came to me; so, the only thing I found you know, I said to him..., to do..., to put them you know, to

discipline those kids whether physical or whatever, or verbally. It's fine with me, because they'll be..., there's a time when a child has to prove himself that you know, you can't insult me like that; . . ."

Her response also seems to be connected to her past experience in that as she explains,

"On the other side you know I'm from [a racist country] where we've been insulted many times you know, called [racist names], so I just want [my children] to be strong."

This mother's situation portrays multifaceted and conflicting She finds herself confronted with a situation which does dynamics. not leave her with any other alternative but to teach conflicting Her situation also reveals that there is little support from values. the social system or perhaps other parents to reinforce the same values as she holds- to teach what is positive and equality. finds herself confronted with a dilemma, whether to protect her child at the expense of her values or to do vice versa. This dilemma is also complicated by her "past experience" with racism, which taught her to bravely confront any form of racism including defending herself "there and then". Her situation suggests the possibility of cultural conflict, and also questions the responsibility of the school regarding racism.

Matshidiso felt "helpless" because she did not understand a specific racial terminology. Her son came home from daycare 'at the

church downtown' one day claiming that the children called him 'buckweed'. She related her discussion with her son as follows:

"And he was very angry with that. He doesn't know what buckweed is. And I said why are you angry? And he said no..., because they were pointing at my hair and what have you. . . . And I for one I remember not knowing for sure what buckweed means until I found out from the very same parents who have been here longer than me; . . . And I said to him, if you don't know what they mean why are you getting angry; and he said because they were laughing at me. And I said, you know when people are laughing at you and you don't know what they are laughing at, if you are not saying or doing anything wrong you shouldn't even worry about it, you shouldn't even grace it. But he was very upset with something like that. And I remember being helpless in helping him because I didn't understand what buckweed meant at that time. . . . And I said, you don't react to something you don't know. . . . If they are pointing at your hair, it's different form theirs, so what. We're all different.. . . He's still questioning your identity that you're born with that kind of hair. You have to accept that you were born with it, or do something with it if you want. You have a choice. But at the same time you should know that's their opinion and let them have it, and you shouldn't react to it that way."

She believes that

". . . if he knew who he was, whatever they called him at that time, he would have [dealt with the situation differently]. . . That is why I think educating our children and teaching them about who we are, is going to give them that foundation where they are going to say, of course. as Blacks we were born with that kind of hair."

She realized that being emotional would not help solve the problem, nor would it help to build her son's "self confidence". She consulted with other women who have been in Canada longer and had similar experiences, she "educated myself on what 'buckweed' meant", and sought a more effective way of addressing the situation. In her words,

"It's almost like if I'm helpless, therefore I cannot give my child self confidence. But I let some time go by and then I sat down and talked to him about it when I had more information. By then I had gained enough help with the information I was given to help him. This is why I say it also means that I had to go through a transformation of deciding how I deal with this 'buckweed'; and that is a difficult transition. Like I said when you are in a new culture you'll have to go through certain changes."

The stories of the latter two women reveal both similarities and differences in the ways of dealing with the problem. The similarity, as discussed earlier, lies in the fact that both women, like the rest of my co-researchers, teach their children to withstand racism by way of building their children's self esteem. However, they tend to confront specific situations in ways unique to themselves, depending on their individual perception of a situation. In this case, the first woman appears to see the perpetrator as a problem which needs to be taken care of; hence her advice to her son to defend himself by dealing with the perpetrator. The second woman seems to perceive the problem as a matter of a weakness in her son's 'self-knowledge' which is unable to stand up for itself. As

a result, she, therefore, insists on working even harder to build her son's self esteem so that his self identity becomes strong enough to withstand future pressure. She, therefore, advocates education and transformation of one's self as ways of dealing with racial issues.

Another way of dealing with this issue, which I found to be This is the case with Elda. She, herself, has painful, is silence. experienced racism, and is aware that her eldest son, in particular, also experienced it and even made a movie about it as part of a However, unlike the latter two women who school project. discussed the issue with their children after they claimed that they had been racially victimized, she does not talk about it. attributes part of the reason for her silence to how she grew up. maintains that although she had been raised in a racist environment, she does not remember her elders discussing racism openly, a trait that she recognizes as having spilled over to even include her son who is "not very communicative with me regarding that issue because I don't know, maybe he's like me." With a hurtful tone, she gave one more reason for her silence which conveys a sense of protectiveness toward her children.

"Because I don't want to talk about things that will make them feel bad and so on, things that will make them feel frustrated. I don't want to share my pain with them . . ."

Two women shared the pain they feel when their children are racially victimized. Duduza related it in this way:

For me as a mother it's very difficult you know. I'd prefer those things to be said to me because I will know what to do, and I will know how to defend myself there and then."

The pain may even turn into a nightmare if the mother herself has had previous experiences of racial discrimination. This is how Elda communicates the hurt in relation to her children:

"The thing is that I always have problems outside. So, from my own personal experience, it's a nightmare; it can be a nightmare for me if the kids could go through what I go through sometimes when I go out."

The fact that women do not discuss racial issues until they happen does not imply that they do not think and worry about them. Veronica found herself constantly thinking and worrying about racism, especially when she first arrived in Canada.

"When I came here, I worried a lot about my kids because the first thing that worried me was, here I am with a black child and there's no other Black soul that I could see, and no other black children. And I don't know how she's going to be socialized in this society, and how she would feel about herself. And what do I do about that. How can I integrate her, but keep her self esteem and her identity intact. And this was really a big worry for me, when I came. And the other worry was that at school I felt that my kid, ... being black, was a prime target for kids who might have poor social behavior like kids into drugs or things like that; those were constantly, constantly on my mind."

Elda's story reflects the same concern.

"... sometimes the racial discrimination in this country, I think it's not being addressed very well. So, sometimes I feel my children might be vulnerable at school and anywhere. ... I think my children are more vulnerable although we are visible minorities you know; but sometimes the police would go after a Black person more than a white person. So I don't think anyone worries more than I do from my own experience because for instance Black people are followed all the time. ... That's why I'm trying my best to always do the right thing."

The women also find themselves having to deal with issues of dating and sexuality. From an African centric point of view as I have experienced it, and as will be revealed in Elda's story, issues of sexuality may be a very sensitive topic. For this reason, I did not ask women questions about the issue. The issue just came up during conversations with three of the women. The women's stories reveal different perspectives of dealing with the issue.

Adua Konadu, does not allow her daughters to have boyfriends yet However, she discusses such issues with them as a form of education. This is what she said in this regard:

"We are talking about it when they see somebody they like and I do; when we're watching TV, and we see somebody who's nice looking we say oh, what a nice looking boy, and we make comments, and they come in and say, oh mummy, do you know who [one of her daughters] has a crush on? And we joke about it and laugh about it, and I say, we can only talk about it, that's O.K., but let them understand that you are not ready yet to date. And if they see somebody they like, they will say, you see that boy, I think he's cute; and we laugh about it and that's it. But as far as having a boyfriend, coming here, sitting here and kissing every two minutes, no."

Matshidiso, like Adua Konadu, talks about sexuality issues with her son; but unlike Adua Konadu, she does not have a problem with her son dating. This factor is implied in what she said about a discussion with her son

"... he told me why he is no longer going to keep up the relationship with a girlfriend, ... and he said he couldn't tell me about this because he was afraid I was going to get upset because he thought I liked the girl . . ."

Elda, unlike the two women, cannot imagine herself talking about sex with her sons. This is what she said in this respect:

"Yeah, for instance, I know my friends keep on asking me if I'm talking about sex with my fourteen year old. It's like wow! I never talk about that with my son [shock and disbelief]. I can never do that. I can't. I just can't see myself talking to my son about sexual activities, and whether he's doing things or not. And my husband is even more strong on that side; he doesn't want to talk about it at all; he doesn't. Yeah, it's very hard. . . . We can't even mention . . . 'kissing' or anything in front of him, anything like beyond that, . . ."

Despite Elda's strong reservations about this issue of sexuality and dating, she may find herself overcome by the urgency of the situation. This is evidenced when a life threatening situation arose, and she was compelled by the situation to talk to her son about meningitis. Ultimately, 'maternal love' overpowered her silence, and she told her son not to "kiss and stuff". She admitted that her

silence over sexuality issues is strongly tied to the way she was raised. She said that when she was growing up, she "didn't even learn about" such issues. Her upbringing in this regard has influenced her so much that she does not think she will ever change.

The women also inculcate in their children the African centric philosophy of non-materialism. Asked about the type of adults they expect their children to become, none of the women expressed a need for accumulation of material things. Naaila responded in the following way:

"Well, I hope for them to be independent. I hope for them to be a benefit to whatever community they are in, you know, to be somebody who is needed, not necessarily important, but valued, and a benefit instead of being a burden. being liable or something like that; and to have a skill, whether academic or technical, or whatever, that they can feel proud of themselves you know."

Matshidiso had this to say:

"I'm hoping that he is going to be a well-rounded citizen who would be able to conduct himself in a way that he'd be proud and would be confident in who he is given the multicultural planes we are in, being of African origin.

. and comfortable with who he is [like herself]. That's what I want to achieve. And the second thing is . . . to be what he wants to be in terms of equcation."

Elda has the following expectations about her sons:

". . . I hope that they would remember their language and their culture, their subculture. I'm sure that they will

remember the Canadian culture, but I hope they will remember their subculture too."

Veronica 's expectations is that at eighteen years, her daughters should

"... be able to make your decisions for yourself. So I should have raised you so that at eighteen you would have acquired good decision making skills and that you could live on your own. ... and experimenting with money management job et cetera before going to university. And my aim is you can survive on your own, have survivability skills and that you will go on to university and then I feel that's my cut off point."

Furthermore

"I teach them that over and above everything that it's the person that you are that is important rather than what you have; because I see so much of the what you have business here. So I teach them that being a whole total person, a good person is more important."

Duduza's answer was:

"I just hope you know, they will turn positive to life, and they will respect everyone.

Adua Konadu hopes her daughter will turn out to

"Be good, you know, be able to meet people and talk to people without judging them, you know; be able to make friends and don't look down on people saying that oh, she doesn't wear decent clothes, so I don't talk to the person or she's more decent than me; be able to talk to anybody you want to talk to. It doesn't matter how they look or what they do; talk to them; and be whatever they want to be."

Even where the women wish that their children be educated, their definition of its value in the lives of their children reflects the non-materialistic view. This is how some of the women responded to the question why they stress academic achievement in the lives of their children:

"I think everybody, if you can, you need it. It's very important, because you know, it broadens your mind. You learn more. It doesn't make you a good person you know, but you learn more and you have so many resources."

Adua Konadu 's reason is that her daughters

"get themselves a good job, and live comfortably, have a decent life."

Another value which the women instill in their children is a sense of responsibility. The way in which they do this reflects the parenting choices discussed earlier, that is, the pre Canadian or the Canadian way or a blend of both ways. Four women mentioned that

they expect their children to help with household chores. just like they were socialized. In fact, during my interview visit with Duduza, I witnessed her daughter help do the dishes. Naaila expects her children to be responsible "from a very early age . . . like cooking and you know, doing things that might be dangerous to them or damage my kitchen . . ." just like the way she has been raised; however, conforming to the Canadian way, and partly a safety issue, she does not let them go to the corner store "and things that I will be worried about them . . ."

3.2. Discipline

The women have various ways and perspectives on how to discipline their children, although the common thread is "talking" with their children, reasoning with them, setting down rules, being firm, showing them their faults, and explaining reasons behind the discipline. Some of them have used spanking, although they do not advocate it. This is Naaila's account:

"I believe in reason with children and talking to them because it works for me, and in taking away privileges; and I believe that spanking is good sometimes, but not the same as my parents. My priority when I'm disciplining my children, my priority is to talk and reason, and show them why this discipline is necessary."

Asked as to how she differentiates spanking from child abuse, she replied:

I would say that child abuse is lack of control of the person giving out this form of discipline. If the child is not gaining anything positive from the spanking, you know; if you don't see an improvement in behavior and if it physically stays on the child's body, you know. There's degrees you know, like I wouldn't beat my kids with a stick on the head or mark the skin you know; I mean, but I don't use that often. . . . I'm finding that it's less necessary, you know, that I can do without it completely because I don't think it's effective. It gives the least positive results."

Veronica, too, seems to share the same perspective with Naaila as regards spanking, that is, using spanking although they do not believe in it. They also seem to equate their situation as parents and administrators of the discipline with that of their childhood as receivers of the discipline. The following is her account:

". . . and I didn't believe in the smacking business too much, although my kids have been smacked. But I thought that was excessive in the Caribbean."

Based on the stories of the wo women, it appears that both made a conscious choice based on two factors. One factor is the willingness to adopt a Canadian value that they perceive as positive. The other factor is that the women seem to have evaluated this practice based on their personal experiences with their children. They both realize that the practice was 'excessive' in their home country, and, as Naaila maintains, that it is not effective. As a result, they consciously chose to either abstain from practicing it, or use it sparingly.

Sometimes women find themselves in conflict with themselves.

They try hard not to spank their children out of respect and fear of

Canadian child protective and apprehension laws. Duduza is one
such woman.

You can't discipline the kids physically, because they will just take them from you. It's one of the things that just killed me."

Matshidiso, too, is constrained by these laws from disciplining her son physically. Matshidiso is the same woman who heard about children being able to call 911 before she came to Canada. Her account is as follows:

". . . for me because I cannot do that, I..., yeah, the only thing that I see is that I had a very strong mother who was always disciplining us; and I see a difference in me wanting sometimes to do that when I get angry with him, But I saw myself especially when he was younger. refraining from that because I thought if he was to call I'll be in trouble and they will take him away from And that put fear. Now I'm a fearful mother me. instead of a relaxed mother like my mother was. my mother conducted herself on the basis that she knew that she had the right to take care of us and discipline us the way she felt was right or the way she was brought I feel myself constrained But with me it's different. and having to really watch the way I do things with him because it's like there's a third eye watching what I'm so there's a difference." doing,

Disciplining the children is not just a matter of talking, but also of expression. This factor becomes evident in how Adua Konadu talks to her fourteen year old daughter regarding going out on Friday night to be like her friends. This is how she conveys the message:

"But sometimes she tries to get away with something because friends do, ... and I say, ... and it's Friday night and I say . . . , you don't have to go out Friday night; because you're only fourteen years old. You're not going If that's what they say, that they go out anvwhere. When it's time for Friday night, that's their problem. Because I you to go out Friday night, then you will. wouldn't even let you go out Friday night. As far as you can go is to the mall. But, where are you gonna go, because every body knows, hey, it's Friday night, I have to go out. You are not going anywhere. If you try to get away with this thing- but she doesn't even do it She's happy, -and when it's time for you to go, you are only fourteen. You're not old enough to go. Don't be in a hurry to be an adult. Just be your age. When the time comes for you to do what you have to do, You can do whatever you there's a lot more fun to have. want. But until now, you just have to be a kid. every minute of it."

Some women, although they believe in talking to their children, still have some reservations about some of the disciplinary measures common in the Canadian society. They base their argument, among other factors, on the way in which they were raised. Duduza's account about her son on this issue is as follows:

"He tells me how to discipline him. He tells me to send him to his bedroom, which I tell him that at home there was no way in which your mom will say that go and stay in your bedroom. First of all I never had a bedroom. We were seven in one bedroom."

Matshidiso elaborates as follows:

"The only slight difference is that some of the people who have been here longer, have now adopted more of the Canadian way of discipline and things like, you know, cutting off the phone privileges or curfews to their kids. I've seen them adopt that more often, whereas with me, I'm still holding to talking to a child and say I want you to see this, and I want you to know that it's wrong, and I want you to tell yourself that you are not going to do it again, and you have to correct it. So this is where the difference is that to me I'm still held fast on saying the child has to have his face shown to the problem instead of saying yes you did this now, and here's the punishment, go to your room. So I still haven't been able to adopt that go-to-your-room kind of discipline."

She cited one incident as an example where she would not discipline her child the 'Canadian way' as was expected by her son's teacher. This is her account:

"The example I can give is he arrived at school three times late and then they sent me a note. And then I was supposed to sign a disciplinary note, and send it back. And I refused to do that with him and said you know what, if I sign this note you are gonna do it again and expect me to sign another note, and do it again; and said I'm refusing to endorse your going late to school, therefore it means you are not going to go to school late anymore. And I talked to the teacher. I wrote a note to the teacher and said, I think he's going to think it's a trend to us to sign notes, so let's not even start signing any notes. He knows he's not supposed to come late and he's not going to come late. And ever since then that has

stopped. . . . I put my foot down and said I'm not going to allow one chance of it happening again."

Matshidiso's last account shares a common trait with that given by Adua Konadu about her fourteen year old daughter's insistence on going out on Friday night. Both accounts depict a situation of non negotiation, which means that, there are certain situations where the parents do not accept any form of input from their children when it comes to certain issues which they deem crucial. 'Reasoning out with the kids' at times like these is ruled out.

Duduza's account also follows the same perspective of putting her foot down. She maintains:

"Let me say I don't let him do whatever he wants to do. He has to know that there are rules in the house. And he has to follow the rules whether he likes it or not. He can do what he wants when he is in his house, you know, I tell him. He knows that-both of them. If you leave here [have your own place] then you can do whatever you want to do. I believe in any house there is a rule, whether you like it or not."

Adua Konadu, too, reiterates the same point of living by the rules, not only in terms of her daughters but also including the foster children. Her account is as follows:

"When she [her elder daughter] tells me Mummy I'm going out, I want to know exactly where she is going, where I can phone her, and when she's gonna be back. We do that with the foster boys. When they come they

don't appreciate it, but after a while they realize: Gee, we have to live by the house rules. And they do."

4. THE WOMEN'S REFLECTIONS ON THE MOTHER-CHILD INTERACTION

The women's reflections on their relationship with their children varies. Matshidiso's response was an immediate "excellent", Adua Konadu and Naaila's response was "good", Veronica's was "fairly good" and Elda's was "fair". Duduza's response varied with each child. While she perceived her relationship with her daughter as "good", she, on the contrary, maintained that her relationship with her son was strained.

The women's responses were always accompanied by some of explanation. For example Matshidiso's explanation for her judgment was:

"... because I hear him say things that are so sensible and so matured that I get so impressed that..., and I have to remind myself that he is a fifteen year old child."

The fact that her son's teacher once remarked positively about his reasoning maturity is an added factor to Matshidiso's positive response about her relationship with her son.

Adua Konadu's response is based on the communication factor that she and her daughters share. Her explanation is as follows:

"We are able to talk. We talk to each other, and we laugh together; we tease each other together, and we

just have fun and laugh. We talk, we dress together, they get into my clothes, ..."

Veronica's response is based on the developmental stage in which her daughters are. Her daughters are teenagers and although, according to her, they have always been very close

". . . right now we are at the point of separating from each other. So at the moment it might appear as though we are not so close. However, I don't think it's a bad relationship."

Elda, on the other hand, uses two different measuring sticks in her assessment. Although she views her relationship with her children as "fair", she adds:

"But sometimes from my own perception, I look at them from the way in which I was raised. So, then I find them very uncooperative if I look at them like that."

This ambivalence is a recurring theme in the women's stories, especially in relation to their children's behavior.

Duduza sees the relationship problem with her son emanating from two factors. The first is that she and her son are just beginning to get to know each other. She had never lived with him until two years before. The second, as she sees it, is related to the attitudes of children in Canada:

"... or it's because of friends you know; because here, I find that kids here when they are too close to their parents, to their mom, their friends will start laughing at them. They call them names."

Lastly, she locates the third reason within the Canadian way of physically relating to children. Her account in this regard is as follows:

"We believe touching for us is not a crime. We touch kids- like even my son when I was at home, I was going to give him a bath. But now I'm in another country. Now it will be abuse. I'm confused. If he's taking a bath it's like, can I go or what, because you know, I'm not free with my kids."

Duduza's statement reveals how, in her own perception, lack of physical contact might strain the relationship between a mother and her children.

Reflecting on the behavior of their children, three women seemed to be satisfied with the behavior of their children. The remaining three had mixed feelings about their children's behavior. These feelings are characterized by two contrasting themes, namely, the Canadian standard versus the African centric standard. These themes are also determined by whether or not the behavior occurs in the home or outside the home. These patterns are demonstrated by the following statements made by the women. The statements that follow reflect an ambivalence based on the two cultures.

"The behavior of my kids? I think unfortunately, although I try to instill my own values and so on, it seems to me like the society took control of a lot of it. And ER..., so, looking at them now I don't think that they are that much different at this point in time from North American kids. They are actually in their behavior the same." (Veronica)

"It's too bad, according to my description. I know that they might not see themselves like that, but sometimes I see them as disrespectful, and financially demanding. I know they're not aware of that. . . . Actually, ever since I came here, . . . and my kids are very compatible. They are just the same as Canadians you know. They behave like Canadians, like Canadian children. Sometimes, you know, . . . , I get shocked sometimes, like the way they respond to me and so on; so that my children are just O.K.; they have adjusted; . . . and their behavior is just good." (Elda)

Naaila's comment is representative of the in-the-home versus outside-the-home contradiction. She maintains:

"Well, I will have to compare to what I see in other families and I think that I am fortunate enough to have children who are well behaved when they go outside, when they visit other people and their interaction with other people. Their behavior is a little different from home because of course they're more relaxed on the street you know, they do what they want. The most disrespect they ever show is out there. But I would say that they are very well behaved." (Naaila)

The women were also asked to reflect on the feedback that they get from their children regarding the values and beliefs they inculcate in them. The feedback is also contradictory, combining both the positive and the negative. For instance, what might begin as negative feedback might, in the long run, turn out to be positive. Veronica, who finds her children sometimes lacking interest in what she teaches them, has just observed a change in attitude in her elder daughter. She maintains her daughter

"... reads a lot of the books that I had bought, for instance, that she had not thought of reading. She reads them now that she is on her own."

Sometimes children's responses vary according to situations. This pattern is evident in the case of all the five women who have been asked to comment on this issue. Children may, on one occasion, respond negatively to their mothers' perspectives; yet given a different scenario, respond positively. The statements Elda made earlier about her children's conduct that they "don't listen", are "uncooperative" and relate to her "at the same level" reflect this tendency in that while on the one hand, she finds her children responding contrary to what she teaches them, she, on the other hand, finds them occasionally exhibiting a positive response on specific issues especially immediately after they have held discussions or a "conference" about their African heritage. The same scenario is experienced by other women. Naaila's experience is supportive of this situation:

"What they say to me, a lot of the old ways, the culture, they laugh at it, you know. They think it's funny. They don't think it's applied now you know. Even though they

see the effect of it you know- what it produces, they say it doesn't apply here. But they are also fascinated by the truth- of what it really was like as opposed to what they have been taught you know, out there."

Adua Konadu 's response, too reflects contradictions.

"Sometimes they feel that it's like, oh..., you did that, or, things like that happen, and it's like oh...; and some of them they like you know."

The women also reflected on a variety of fears in relation to their children. Two distinct themes run through the women's fears. These are related to the Canadian social environment and individual family structure.

Fears based on the social environment reveal two dynamics.

The first dynamic concerns the social structure which is beyond the mothers' or the children's control. Identified under this category are concerns about racism and the children's safety. Elda conveyed her fear in relation to racism

"I think that my children are more vulnerable although...We are visible minorities you know; but sometimes the police would go after a Black person more than a White person. So, I don't think anybody worries as much as I do from my own experience because for instance, when ER... Black people are the ones that are followed all the time. The police are always after us looking for trouble. You know, Black people are regarded as bad people."

The following statements relate to the safety of children.

Duduza made the following statement:

"Losing them. I'm just scared. [loosing them] to people outside, you know, to their friends. It's just you know, I get lots of information. Children here, they are being kidnapped, they are being killed. So, all those things you know, make me think on that line that maybe I'm gonna lose my kids one day."

Elda responded is terrified by the thought of losing her children.

". . . losing my children just because sometimes I don't have money and I can't do things for my children; you know, in Canada children can be adopted by any other parent- like strangers sometimes can just take your child and raise the child, you know, without being blood So, you know, it haunts me to think relatives and so on. my son can be mothered by somebody who doesn't even know him, not being a blood relative. That's not a common thing in my culture. It really is, you know, sometimes it's a nightmare for me to think about that. Because I know I'm a student and my husband doesn't work; and sometimes we don't have enough money in the house and you know, we can lose our children any time and you know I'm thinking a lot that one day they will go away and someone would like to take over their lives. I have heard about such incidents."

The second aspect under fears emanating from the social environment concerns outside pressure, specifically how the children might respond to such pressure.

Naaila's response in this regard is as follows:

"There are just fears for my children to lose their self respect and their self esteem and become downtrodden and don't believe in themselves. . . . My children losing their self respect and becoming involved in anything that is self destructive. Because I see so many Canadian children having to go through this experience of low self esteem."

Matshidiso has the same fear, too.

"... but if we don't keep up being strong with each other, he is easily going to be influenced by what is going on outside by peer pressure, group pressure, novelties or whatever new things he wants to be because when he comes to clothes, I see him having no direction; he wants to wear certain clothes."

Adua Konadu, too, has the same fear

"It's drugs and alcohol. especially drugs . . . ; but drugs, that's what I'm afraid of because I'm not everywhere with them. I don't go to school with them. So, that's what I fear most . . . that's my greatest fear, peer pressure. That's what I'm afraid of; that's what I always pray that she'll have a mind of her own to say that, no, I'm not going to do this just because my friends are doing it. . . . there's always people pressuring you saying oh, you're chicken, you're this, why don't you try, and that's what I'm afraid of."

Veronica, in addition to the fear of drugs, has other fears. Below follows her statement.

"Well, for me the most immediate fear is that they don't go to university because that for, that is one of my cut off things, ER..., that I should raise them ER..., that they should go to university and I cut off there. And I always fear that they may not. Of course, I always fear drugs, and things like that, and alcohol and smoking and stuff, . . . Of course I think about pregnancy too."

Individual women's family structure also play a big role in shaping individual women's fears. Based on this, Matshidiso adds another dynamic to her fears:

"I am scared that as my child goes through teenage life as quietly as he is right now, being the only child . . . I think he's going to be a loner, and in this country, the outcome of a loner scares me. And the other thing is that it's just the three of us, myself, my friend and him, and we don't have an extended family and therefore he's missing out on interaction."

Matshidiso's fear about her son's loneliness is compounded by the fact that her son does not seem enthusiastic about making friends.

"he has that tendency of not carrying through with his promises to other people. When he promises other kids to meet with them, I see him not being interested in following it through; he'd rather call and cancel the appointments."

The aspect of family structure seems to have also shaped Veronica's other fear as revealed by her statement:

"The other fear is that being a single parent can be a process that can repeat itself. So I worry about their lives, about whether they will be single parents, too, or whether they will be able to interact with men because this was a female house for many, many years, and how this interaction will influence the kind of life they will have."

The above findings on the women's fears, further reveal a unique pattern based on a different culture. The Canadian social environment as an environment unfamiliar to these women seems to arouse fears which, according to the women, are unlikely to be of importance in their countries of origin. The tendency by the women to use the phrases "in Canada", "but here" in relation to their experiences reflects this factor. Adua Konadu's statement illustrates this point. Commenting about fears in relation to drugs, she says:

"... when I went home four years ago, there was no such thing as kids doing drugs. They don't even know what it is. ... So, if I were home, I don't think I would have this kind of fear: but here that's not it."

The tendency to compare makes their experiences unique. Whereas Canadian born and raised mothers may experience the same sociological concerns such as peer influence about their children (Bernhardt, 1970:138), they, unlike my co-researchers,

are unlikely to have a different geographical or cultural perspective to compare with. In addition, people from the dominant culture are unlikely to experience racism.

5. EXPERIENCES WITH FORMAL INSTITUTIONS

The school emerged as the main formal institution with which the women have had personal interaction regarding their children, with the school counselors as the prominent interaction figure.

Veronica, Elda and Duduza were each called in at school to see a school counselor regarding their children's behavior. Veronica did not specify what the problem was, but Duduza and Elda had to see school counselors because their sons had been involved in fights.

Duduza did not comment on the discussion with the counselor. Elda found the meeting productive. She thought the school counselor

"was very helpful because she even made another appointment with us just to check up and see if there is any improvement."

However, she was shocked by the counselor's stereotypical assumption which

"related the whole thing to maybe they thought we had problems in the house and so on, . . ."

Another shock is related to a cultural difference in the perception of privacy. Elda was shocked that the counselor discussed the problem in the presence of the child concerned. She

was also startled by the way in which the counselor perceived the whole issue of fighting, which differs from her own perception. The following is her explanation:

"She was saying no matter what, my son is not allowed to hit other kids; no matter how upset he is, you know, even if the other kid is wrong. If the other kid hits him, he's not supposed to hit him back; he's supposed to go somewhere else; which is very funny you know. remember back in my country, I can't remember anything like that, that when somebody hits you, you are not supposed to hit back. . . . but you know, the way the conditions are here, it's very, very, you know, can be risky to your child if he likes fighting. . . . Right now I know what I'm gonna teach my child so that he can socialize better with other kids outside there, and he can interact with them. But before. I didn't know about the rules and regulations."

Elda's story illustrates that she is willing to work hard to adapt to her new culture. Her willingness to adapt is also conveyed by her readiness to accept another meeting with the counselor "if there was anything going on." It also illustrates that it is important that immigrant women receive information necessary to make adaptation as easy as possible.

Veronica's experience with her daughter's school counselor reveals a shade of mistrust based on stereotypes inherent in the services. This fact seems to have contributed to her reluctance about seeking professional help regarding her daughters. She maintains:

"There's also the school psychologist; however, I sort of have a sense of mistrust there, so I avoid that. . . . sort of makes me nervous. And also I felt that schools quite often they jump on negatives with the kids. So, for our kids . . . they will utilize that negative image. They've already got the negative image in their mind, and if you can back it up then you've lost."

She would rather not consult with the school counselor anymore because of this mistrust. The mistrust, however, seems to be directed only at the individual counselor in that she is willing to discuss issues with "other individuals" at her daughter's school. Duduza, too, shares the same feeling of mistrust; however, unlike Veronica whose mistrust is selective, she is not prepared to consult with any formal institution regarding parenting for a different reason.

"Because what will happen? I might lose my kids very easily. . . . because what they do now, they believe the kids- whatever the kids tell them. And then me, they don't believe me as a parent anymore."

The rest of the women did not mention having had any contact with counselors. They have, however, utilized other forms of parenting resources like parenting courses and programs. Although the women think that these services are helpful, they feel they are inadequate in that they represent the dominant culture's perspective. Not all the women, however, concur with the observation. Adua Konadu is satisfied with children's social programs available. She thinks ". . . it's good". She does not,

however, use any parenting resources because she has not encountered "any major problem" with her children.

6. MISSING FACTORS

Amongst other factors like absence of fathers in the case of the two single mothers, and absence of cultural rituals in the case of one women, the women identified the extended family as the most crucial factor missing in their parenting. It is not only the presence of the extended family per se that the women miss, but in particular, the supportive role and the contributions that go with it. The following statements reveal the strong feelings the women have towards the extended family:

"Just the contribution of my relatives and my extended family back home, which I value toward upbringing of my children. Now that it's not there, I think there's something like an empty spot that needs to be fulfilled.

. Actually, I just miss my extended family and unfortunate enough I know there's nothing I can do about it. But I miss my extended family." (Elda)

"... and we don't have an extended family and therefore he's missing out on interaction. ... one thing that I know is that I was raised in the midst of so many people who were my support system. ... But I think my son doesn't have that. He only has me and that's why he has to evaluate whether he should talk to me about an issue or not. ... My son does not have avenues where he can plant his emotions when I did." (Matshidiso)

"Oh, yes, oh, yes; that total area there of the family and the extended family and the input that they could have had as people from extended family and all that. That, that's the saddest thing for me you know; that's all ER... missing thing." (Veronica)

"I miss the extended family idea, of not just being myself, but looking out and introducing the raising up of being responsible, every body getting children. involved. I miss that. . . . my kids having grandparents and uncles and aunts around them; people who could share my beliefs you know; because I feel that it's a big responsibility and I wish I had more people around me. Well. I feel that my children would have more to draw different personalities and experiences to make them stronger, stronger personalities; more as a guide you know, because they grow up with me and their Basically we are the only people giving input, and I feel like it's a little unfair because we're just two people you know, and only have that much inside you know: . . . if they had their grand parents, and their aunts and their uncles to have so much more to draw from." (Naaila)

To compensate for the lack of extended family other women have devised alternatives in order to provide their children with 'the extended family environment'. For example, Matshidiso has two friends that her son can talk to about issues which he does not want to discuss with her, and to sleep over whenever he feels too angry to be around his mother. Adua Konadu on the other hand, maintains that she tries to perform those duties that would be performed by the extended family herself. Some women, however, have not been able to extend themselves for reasons varying from inability to discuss family issues with people who are not blood relatives to lack of culturally sensitive organizations in issues of parenting. Veronica used to reach out to her parents constantly. She maintains,

"... used to talk to my parents a lot; I mean initially. I used to have huge phone bills because I talked to them a lot of times, and that was a lot of help."

7. TRANSFORMATIONS, CHANGES AND ADJUSTMENTS

The women's parenting experiences have effected various significant changes and transformations in the women. Such changes may be attributed to changes in perception of parenting and motherhood, the women's childhood experiences and accommodation of Canadian culture or a combination of these factors. In relation to changes in perception of motherhood, Veronica stated:

" I think a lot of women in the Caribbean are sort of martyrs to everybody you know, husbands, children, whatever, you know, self sacrificing; so you sort of start on this self sacrificing role because it is what you saw your parents do, or you saw your mother do it and others do it and so on. But as time goes by, certainly at this stage of things, I don't really want to be doing much of that anymore. . . . In the beginning I was a martyr mother, you know. I literally...; I felt part of my job was to run myself ragged completely . . . as time went on I found out that kids are people, too, and they have their own lives and I sort of began to separate myself and tell myself that I would do this and this, but I would not do over and above that. And as time goes on I cut down more; I set more and more limits. So in actual fact I'm doing less."

Naaila had the following to add;

I used to think that a mother had to be providing you know, warmth and shelter and all that for the child and discipline the child, but I found that being friendly towards the children, and listen to what they have to

say. . . , I didn't have too much to say. I had to listen to what [my parents] had to say; . . . so I give my children that benefit I didn't have, and I find I'm doing very well listening to them. Because I remembered my experience of my parents being dictators and not trying to see what I was feeling; . . . and especially my older children have become adolescents and I think I see them struggling. and I feel drawn back to this feeling of suppression I had, and I didn't want them to feel like that, but just give them a little more freedom to be expressive, you know. It has helped a great deal."

Naaila's statement reflects a combination of two factors, that is, a change in perception of motherhood and her childhood experience. Having not being happy about being dictated to and not being given the opportunity to express herself, she feels empathy to her children, and therefore, is willing to give them the opportunity she never had as a child.

The following is an illustration of change based on the age of children, including the mother's age, as is the case with Naaila. She made the following statement in this regard:

"... but as my children get older, I realize I have to deal [with them] differently; like my expectations or the way I expected to discipline them or treat them or relate to them is changed; it's become much more relaxed as they grow older and as I, myself grow older, personality has changed a lot. I used to worry a lot and be more tense around my children, protecting and worrying about how they would do, you know, but I find I'm becoming more relaxed, maybe because they have an understanding and because I'm satisfied about their behavior and the way they carry themselves."

Adua Konadu, too, has the same perspective as Naaila with regard to the age of children.

"I think you change as your kids grow up, because when they are kids you do different things, for instance, you tell them what to do and they do it; you do things for them. But when they get older, then they can make decisions for themselves; you don't do much for them, like when they were small. Now they need more guidance. They can do things on their own."

Matshidiso supports the two women.

"... my son has become more of a companion and a friend to me, ... as opposed to the time when he was younger. When he was, I used to ... talk to him instead of talking with him. Now, these days, I talk with him and ... I listen. I no longer talk down on him. So this time I'm no longer right on top of his head trying to discipline him. I'm more at almost the same level where we're solving problems together."

Meanwhile, in the process of making changes to accommodate Canadian culture, the women often find themselves compelled to "really" contradict their will, values, customs and beliefs for the sake of conformity to Canadian culture. Asked as to whether she sometimes makes changes against her will, Adua Konadu responded:

"Yes, that happens; like sleeping over at their friends'. I don't really like thatyou wonder, are they going to be safe there? It's like, what are you going to sleep

over for? . . . it's like if I had my way, I wouldn't have them sleep in any body's house, . . "

Some of the contradictions made by other women include allowing their children "to go to their friends' house and spend time", buying them presents all the time", letting the children "communicate with me at the same level", "socializing my children in English" and allowing them to make their own decisions and to behave contrary to the mothers' "cultural beliefs and values, yeah". Asked as to why they make such changes contrary to their values, they came up with various reasons among which are the following:

"It's the Canadian way of life . . ." (Duduza)

[&]quot;... it's just something within me, like intuitive, like I learned it and then now it's within me. I think it's just willingness to want to adjust to life in Canada. ... I need some adapting; I need to adapt. ... I just have to do it in order to get my children ... to like me. If I'm going to try to be their boss, I know they won't like me anymore. ... Yeah, [losing them emotionally], thinking that Mom is a bossy person and so on. So, I'm doing that and I don't want to be doing it." (Elda)

[&]quot;. . . as an immigrant parent you cannot expect to raise them the way you were raised back home because they would rebel too much." (Veronica)

It appears, however, that despite these contradictions, the determination to fit in and to maintain a healthy mother-child relationship surpasses the wish to hold on to their values. The reasons they provided point out to this will to conform.

The women expressed a variety of feelings, emotions and attitudes following the changes they make. Some may be positive, as maintained by Naaila:

"Well, I feel contradiction is necessary up to a certain extent you know. I mean it's a struggle you know, . . ."

Sometimes the women express negative emotions:

"It makes me feel a bit anxious sometimes. Some of it makes me upset, ..." (Veronica)

"Well the first time it was very hard. You don't sleep all night because you can't say whether you are doing the right thing . . ." (Adua Konadu)

"You know, I feel helpless because there's nothing I can do about it." (Elda)

Feelings of guilt, regret and self blame may also be part of the transformation process as reflected by Elda's statement with regard to the language factor.

"You know, another thing I did against my will is, you know, socializing my children in English, you know. I talked to my children in English all the time and then they forgot their language, and then now I have to struggle again to teach them my language, you know, because they master English now, and then now I have to go back. I did that, I know I talked to them in English when we came here all the time. I just didn't know the repercussions would be that bad, and that you know, they would forget their language and so on. I was doing that thinking that I... trying to make them improve, and you know, interact with other children and be able just to master the language and be good in it Yet at the same time I was doing... and of course making them forget my language; so, I didn't really want them to forget my language. As much as I wanted them to learn English, I didn't want them to forget my language."

Transformations are also accompanied by a sense of self loss.

Matshidiso's explanation of this loss is as follows:

". . . you end up falling into the mainstream way of raising your child, and you lose your culture as you go, . . . you find that your identity, and your child's identity has to change; and that's not an easy thing- to assimilate, ... that's what you lose. You have to give up certain things about yourself in order to accommodate the environment and be part of the environment in order to relax enough and enjoy the environment as being part of And that transition is never easy for anybody; ... you find you go through stages of assimilation, through stages of really evaluating your identity in order to fit in. You lose yourself in the process. I'll tell you the other thing that is so bad is that when you go home to visit, the people who know you identify the changes, can point them out to you; and you find that you are unaccepted there and unaccepted here; and your child is going to go through that."

Matshidiso's statement also reflects someone still in transition where equilibrium has not been achieved yet. The challenge is to ride the rockiness of conflict and change to reach a balanced view of the two cultures.

Despite feelings of guilt and loss, the women seem to have embraced something from Canadian culture, which is, as Duduza puts it,

". . . I would say to listen from the child. I learned that. The way I was raised, man, there was no time my parents would listen to me. It was them, and that was it."

Elda concurs in the following way:

". . . I've started to learn to respect my children's point of view. I can see myself relating with my children at the same level, whereas when I was in Africa I wouldn't do that."

Regardless of the parenting struggles the women go through, for various reasons, they all are happy and satisfied with the role they play. They, on average, give their satisfaction level eight out of ten.

"Well, I'm happy because [my children] are interested in their education, and I'm happy because they stay away from trouble. . . .I can give them what I can afford." (Elda)

"I feel good. I don't have problems with my kids, and I feel that we've done a good job. We are very happy."
(Adua Konadu)

As indicated by the preceding findings, it is evident that parenting in Canada for these women is not easy. It is an activity marked by a process of constant decision making in an environment they know little about. For these women, parenting means living in two conflicting worlds at the same time. It involves making choices on what, how, when and why to socialize their children. involves how to relate with their children who are being brought up in a world different from the one they (the women) have been To accomplish this, they are constantly weighing the brought up in. pros and cons from both their original culture and Canadian culture to select what they can incorporate in their parenting. This process involves constant conflicts with their values and beliefs as they attempt to create a parenting environment conducive to healthy relationships not only between them and their children, but also between their children and the outside environment, themselves and others. It is a process which is marked by a continuous struggle to arrive at a cultural balance, which, unfortunately, is difficult to attain. A plus factor is that the women seem to benefit from the two cultures in that they have two systems of parenting "to draw from", in Naaila's words. Although the two

cultures, when practiced as separate, reflect an irreconcilable clash, ultimately, they seem to strengthen each other to produce one richer culture when practiced in combination,

CHAPTER V

RECOMMENDATIONS AND CONCLUSION

Feminist research is most useful to women when it provides suggestions for change intended to liberate women from their condition (Acker, et. al., in Fonow & Cook, p. 145). Feminist methodology requires that "Women must make personal and social choices about how they will address the political struggle necessary for their growth and development' (Baber & Allen, 1992:21). Still adhering to the feminist research perspective on the concept of subjectivity, I included the women's suggestions for change.

The women came up with several proposals to enhance the parenting environment for women of African descent. They all echo a need for programs specifically designed to support both the children and parents of this cultural group. Only one woman is satisfied with available programs for children and does not "see how they can improve it" and thinks that "whatever is there right now is good." Five of the women communicated their own suggestions for improvement in this regard:

"we should have specific programs or workshops, anything important to meet, and to share chaos and concerns and things like that." (Naaila)

"If we have the communities or a place where we can practice our own culture." (Elda)

"... there are not too many ethnic groups that would help, that are focused on the needs of ... especially of [people] of African descent; and I would think that it would be good if there was an established African organization that would help parents with their parenting skills; ... in order for us to keep something about ourselves, that says who we are, ... where we can tell our children and bring them to understand who they are, to know who they are, to feel good about who they are, and yet know that they can still live along side other people and function as citizens, you know, of Canada. . . teach our children some aspects about themselves, which [are] specific to them; then they'll be able to say, yes, this is who I am, but I also know that as a Vancouverite this is what I believe in." (Matshidiso)

Veronica, as much as she supports the idea of having African centric resources, would also like to see more cultural programs introduced at schools. She also strongly feels that "it would be a big plus" if such programs could be introduced to the children as early as daycare level. She believes

". . . it would be a great thing if the kids could have these little cultural daycares, where you have maybe some Black organization or so forming their own daycare system for young kids, where the kids could begin to learn about their cultural background in that environment".

The women's suggestions in this respect reflect the foundation of their child-rearing practices, which is building children's self esteem. They are still reiterating the same need as outlined in the beginning of chapter four. This shows how important this issue is.

Real as it is that "there's not enough resources to provide for the above needs of the children", it appears that availability of such resources might not always serve the purpose outlined by the women. It might be the question of who is in control of such resources. Elda's experience with one African centric organization reflects this situation, which may be attributed to sexism.

"... even if there's an African organization, they don't address children's issues, maybe because they don't have enough resources for the children. ... they just said they don't deal with those issues. You know they are just thinking at the parent's level. They are looking at the economical problems of families but not children. ... It could be because they are men who are leading the organizations, because men seem to overlook the issues of children. Maybe if there was an African women's group maybe that issue would have come up because men don't interact that much with children."

The women would also like to see the notion of community participatory parenting as practiced in their home countries adopted in Canada. Elda conveyed the following suggestion:

"For instance, in Africa the whole village takes part in raising children. When children get in trouble outside in the street, and there is an elderly person passing by, she intervenes and sort of addresses the problem. But if you are in Canada . . . they just keep quiet and go by. So I think that if in Canada all the parents could participate in bringing up the children, it would be good because it's a good thing for children to learn from both society outside and from the family."

Duduza's opinion is similar to Elda's. In support she concurs:

"So, I'll say if we all mothers we can come together and discipline our kids you know, and tell them that it doesn't matter who disciplines them, as long you know, there is an adult there, just respect that adult."

The same opinion about participatory parenting is also held by Naaila, however, with a different approach. Whereas Elda and Duduza would expect every parent, mother or adult to participate in the parenting role, Naaila stresses the principles of trust and acquaintance. She explains:

"I think one way of substituting- that is having you know, like having mentors in the community or trying to foster more personal relationships with neighbors, things like that. . . . you know if neighbors were closer to each other, you know, and there were people in the community whom you could trust with your children you know; that they could be alternative parents or alternative adults that the children could love and feel comfortable with them, you know, if we could develop something like that."

Her approach incorporates the need for common approaches to avoid sending out conflicting messages to children. It also implies a safe environment for children, whereas Elda and Duduza, seem to equate parenthood and adulthood with responsibility. They tend to overlook the aspects of lack of shared community values and abuse as inflicted by adults on children.

Boulton notes that "Western industrial society is organized in such a way that it is necessary for the biological mother to look after her own children, or a least to take responsibility for ensuring that her children are looked after" (1983:16). Participatory parenting as recommended by the women would be beneficial.

In addition to participatory parenting, Duduza would also like to see grandparents getting more involved. She perceives them as a resourceful investment which is often not valued. Her argument in this regard is as follows:

"What I found out here, you know, the grandparents are not part of society. They reach a certain age where they'll just take them to the nursing home . . . because if they were around I'd say we won't have that much problem with the children who are on the street, because they will help, you know; they'll educate. I believe that as they are old, they know a lot."

Duduza's strong feelings about grandparents seem to stem from her pre- Canadian experience. Earlier on she expressed the high esteem with which she holds grandparents; she equates them with psychologists. Research supports Duduza's observation. Kornhaber and Woodward (1985) and Kitzinger (1978), have also noted that in Western countries grandparents have been stripped of this traditional role and have been replaced by counselors.

The above discussion reflects two sides. On the one hand, the women would like to have African centric cultural resources for the

purpose of building the foundation of a solid self knowledge in their children. On the other hand, they would also like to see a cultural integration happen. This would be possible if all Canadian women, irrespective of cultural or racial background come together to discuss participatory parenting and other parenting issues as experienced by all women, by using existing resources. In this manner, they also advocate the notion of inclusion and equality. Naaila maintains:

"Well, there's already in the Canadian environment and society here, they have a lot of institutions for parents to come together and discuss parenting, . . . So I think this is a great opportunity for parents to come together and exchange ideas and concerns and support each other, you know; And I think that this should be promoted even more you know, not just by professionals coming to educate parents about what they think should be the best way to raise their children but also give parents forum to exchange ideas and all that you know. I think that should be promoted."

Elda, too, holds the same perspective. She maintains:

"... we have women's groups here in Victoria, and then if we can just address those issues ... and talk about it among ourselves, ... we can handle the situation; and then we won't have any problems with children misbehaving, or even you know, sometimes just educating the children."

The call for culture sensitive services reflects an observation by Torjman (1988). In her research on the gap between social services and women's needs, she states that

"Traditional programs and services have not been particularly sensitive to the needs of immigrant women . . ethnic minority women who have lived in this country for many years find many services inappropriate or insensitive to their needs. Child-care programs, for example, tend to be 'unicultural' in their approach. There is insufficient attention paid to creating learning and play environments that are reflective of various cultural backgrounds." (Torjman, April, 1988:35)

Seward and McDade (1988:38-9) also made a similar observation about child care centers in Canada in their research on immigrant women in Canada.

Three women would also like to see the issue of racism taken seriously by the Canadian society at large. Elda presents her opinion in the following way:

"If they address the issue of discrimination, . . . instead of just ignoring the whole thing . . . we are just the same people . . ."

Duduza adds:

"You know, our children here we don't teach them you know, tell them that there are people who are different

from them, who don't have the same color, . . . I'd like to see them, you know the children being together, loving each other, . . . look at each other that person is just like me; it's not that you know, I'm [more] special than them. If you know, we can just teach our children from the house because one of the things which I found out is it's like a pattern which keeps going on. The hatred is there outside; but it starts from home where . . . we teach them."

Naaila agrees with the other women on this issue. She would like to see all Canadians from different cultures make a joint effort "understanding and educating themselves more about other cultures such as mine so that they will have a better, less negative views about people from my culture." In her experience, she discovered that many children she interacts with are being fed negative information about other cultures, especially by the media, "and this causes them to have negative attitudes towards other children. . . . Yes, all my life, [racism] is a continuous experience."

Apart from holding individual parents and women's and parents' groups responsible to effect change, the women also see it as their personal responsibility as a group or as individuals to do so. Responding to the question how change can be effected with regard to racism, Elda suggested:

". . .the thing is, we the invisible people we have to voice out our confrontations, and we have to confront the issues."

Reflecting on her personal experiences with racism she continues:

"I know I'm very wrong to keep things to myself. If people are being discriminative and so on, I have to address the issues. . . . I know that if I want things to change I'll have to work towards changing the things myself. I have to be involved and try to participate in things, you know, so that things can change and so on. . . But at the same time the problem is, I was thinking if I wanted to help my children not to go through what I'm going through is for me to speak up. So I think it's my responsibility to sort of fight this racial discrimination so that you know, my descendants don't go through what I went through."

Despite her feelings of inadequacy as far as racism, Elda has already tried participatory parenting as she advocated, and found it effective. She maintains that she once intervened when she saw "this kid spitting somewhere" and

". . . I talked to her . . . , but ever since I talked to this girl she never spit anymore at the transit zone . . ."

She suggested an effective approach to talk to the children:

"When we intervene, we don't have to be commanding or telling the children what to do. We just suggest that you know, . . . in an educative way. We don't have to be rude or mean when we talk to them; we just talk to them nicely and they understand, you know."

Intervention, may not always bring positive results as Duduza explains. She tried to advise young children against smoking, but

unlike Elda, got verbally insulted by the children, a reaction which might discourage other women.

Naaila, like the two women, is doing something as an individual to bring change regarding the issue of inclusion, through a home schooling group. She explains:

"I like to initiate things you know, and I feel that in our little home schooling group, I've already shared a lot of information about how I discipline my children and how I was raised; and quite a few people appreciated the information, because I felt brave enough to . . . I feel it's my duty, if I have something I think it's more effective, then I should say [it]."

Based on the preceding discussion, it appears that to bring change, they would opt for the strategy of mainstreaming. They prefer to work within existing parenting social structures, together with women from other cultural backgrounds, by incorporating their own perspectives. However, to gain strength and support, they also would like to form their own cultural groups defined by their identity. Their focus seems to be on grassroots level- they see themselves as effective change agents at the local level.

IS THERE HOPE OUT THERE?

It appears that several social institutions are trying to respond positively to some of the parenting concerns of immigrant women.

The ministry of education and ministry responsible for

multiculturalism and human rights have compiled an information book, Newcomers' Guide to Resources and Services in British

Columbia (1992). The booklet contains vital information to orient new immigrants. Although the booklet does not provide immigrant women with detailed information on the issues we have discussed, it does provide them with addresses and phone numbers of places which provide similar services.

There are also attempts by the Multicultural Society of Burnaby to offer "direct services" specifically directed at immigrants through a program called "Direct Services Project" This program, as stated was a move from "Indirect services" which have been offered in the past. The objective is to assist immigrants "in understanding the cultural differences they experience in their new home" (p. B-2). The same paper also announced the implementation of parenting programs directed at immigrant parents, and the inception of a support group for immigrant women and promotion of multicultural activities aimed to "end racism". These programs may seem attractive and helpful; however, there are limitations.

First is the problem of accessibility in terms of language as a barrier to many immigrants and in terms of finances as participants were required to pay for these services. We have already heard from my co-researchers that lack of money bars them from accessing the services they need. Second is the tendency of such programs to focus only on immigrants, isolating them from the larger group. This tendency inhibits integration and exchange of ideas between immigrants and the mainstream population. It also overshadows the experiences and voices of immigrants by separating them from

the rest of society. Such programs further send the damaging impression that problems of immigrants are not problems of Canada.

The Canadian social structure also seems to compensate for the extended family. The Social Services Department and volunteer and/or privately funded social groups and organizations provide services that are similar to those provided by extended families. The problem is that such services do not operate on the same level as Unlike the extended family which operates on a extended families. personal level, and which is flexible and loosely structured, these services are mostly structured, controlled professionalized and In addition, support from such social structures may be specialized. temporary and as such, may not create long lasting relationship like extended families. Moreover, they lack the intimacy that may be provided by extended families. A complementary alternative extended family model, which some of my co-researchers have practiced with their friends, is discussed by Dyck (1989; 1990).

Her research about the mothers who lived in the tri-city area of British Columbia's Lower Mainland- Coquitlam, Port Coquitlam and Port Moody discusses participatory parenting similar to the extended family. In her studies, women make contacts with other mothers to discuss parenting issues (1990:469, 473) and to share information and to negotiate common parenting standards to avoid conflicting expectations of children as they look after one another's children (1989). Her (1989) study goes on to discuss situations where neighbors form even closer 'extended families' with a focus on the children, where "children commonly play in each other's backyards or on the street" (335). In my opinion, this model is a

good alternative to the extended family, provided the neighbors who come from diverse cultural backgrounds agree to make compromises, and come to a middle ground regarding their differences, especially in cultural values, and in ways of parenting.

There is also positive promise in the women's movement. The recent appointment of a woman of African descent as president of NAC (National Action Committee) is a major breakthrough. Also, as I am writing, there is a big meeting happening in Ottawa between representatives from several women's groups and the Minister of Justice to discuss women's issues, including immigrant women's issues. This may be a positive move towards 'inclusion'.

Concluding on my findings up to so far, I would like to stress that this thesis successfully documented and presented the women's experiences and perspectives of parenting in a different culture. The feminist oral history methodology employed has been crucial in illuminating these experiences and how they are being perceived, interpreted and analyzed by the participants. Evident in the findings is the problem of accessing information related to parenting, especially on the women's arrival in Canada. It is also evident that the women's different cultural background and values which basically conflict with Canadian parenting makes the process of parenting and adaptation complex and challenging issues. Lack of facilities and resources designed to address appropriate services, specific needs of these mothers further complicates their situation. The findings further point out to unique experiences such as racism and fear of state intervention. Racism is an important issue which needs immediate attention, especially by schools. The fact that all

women reported incidences racism experienced by their children especially at school, including daycare, questions the effectiveness of the school in addressing racism. Similarly, the fear of state intervention, and possibility of child apprehension seems to uniquely haunt these women. Other women (Dyck, 1989), do not seem to have such a fear; however, like my co-researchers, have fears in relation to the safety of their children.

The findings also indicate that the way in which these women mother is influenced by both their original culture and the Canadian culture. This finding recognizes the fact that "the specific ways in which children are cared for and socialized are not in any sense 'natural' or static, . . . " (Dyck, 1989:465).

The findings also echo the same voice as contemporary feminist theorists and researchers, that of equality, difference and inclusion. It is evident that specific parenting problems and needs of immigrant women of African descent have not been adequately addressed the government and social services. It is. therefore. important that we advocate for inclusion of this group of women at all the levels of social programs which involve children, and administration positions. Similarly, it is important that immigrant women demand participation in existing programs. Given this situation, more research should address the questions: What are the limiting factors to such inclusion? How do government agencies and institutions deal with parenting problems of immigrant parents? To what extent are existing social institutions, especially school, and programs sensitive to the specific needs of children

of African descent, including children from other visible minority groups?

Furthermore, future research in the area of parenting of women of African descent should look into issues how economic factors such as income, poverty, class, employment, and factors such as health impact on the parenting of these women. It is also important to look more closely at the role played by fathers. Also, we need to include perspectives of children. To achieve success in this area we need to document and publish more detailed personal stories from and about parenting issues of people of African descent. Such research would necessitate oral history methodology

This research has successfully demonstrated that in-depth interviewing is an effective tool of research. However, like any other methodology, it is not immune to limitations. Preference for a small sample may be problematic. In the case of my research, the sample of six women may not be sufficient enough to adequately draw generalized conclusions about experiences and perspectives of all women of African descent. I would, therefore, stress that the information in this thesis about parenting is reflective of my coresearchers' perceptions of parenting based on, and limited by their experiences. The information should, therefore, not be interpreted as representative of everybody else's reality, or Canadian reality as it may be known to other people.

APPENDIX A

My name is Addy, a mother of two boys, ages eighteen years and twenty two months. I am a student at Simon Fraser University doing a research on the parenting experiences of immigrant women of African cultural background. I am particularly interested in your experiences as regards psychological upbringing of your child or children since you came to Canada. Your story should reveal how you do this, how you cope, including both the pleasant and unpleasant sides of your experiences. After you have finished telling your story, I would like you to provide me with more specific information according to the questions I will ask. Thereafter, if you have anything to add, or questions to ask, you are welcome to do so. I would like us to relate as equals, as women who share the same experience and who seek better solutions to whatever problems we Note that I am taping this discussion, and if you want to use a different name, you are still welcome to do so. Please feel free and comfortable to speak up your mind. If you have any questions before we begin, you may ask them now.

LIST OF QUESTIONS

BACKGROUND QUESTIONS

- l. How would you identify yourself in terms of name or pseudonym, ethnicity, cultural background?
- 2. How long have you been in Canada?
- 3. Which country are you from?

- 4. How many children do you have?
- 5. Where were they born?
- 6. How old are they?
- 7. Briefly describe how children are 'educated' in your country; i.e., what is it that they are taught, the upheld values and beliefs, who is responsible for the 'education' of the children, how do they go about it, (including disciplinary measures), the age at which your culture considers a child to be responsible, etc...?
- 8. How were you raised in particular?
- 9. What are your own beliefs and values concerning child rearing?
- 10. What did you know about Canadian ways of raising children before you came to Canada?
- 11. What were your expectations in this area before you came here?
- 12. If you already had children when you came here, did you fantasize or worry about their upbringing?
- 13. What is it that you were fantasizing or worried about?

FACING REALITY

The following questions are bout your initial experiences in Canada.

- 14. What reality were you confronted with when you arrived?
- 15. What information did you get after your arrival about children in Canada?
- 16. Do you know about parenting resources and programs available in Vancouver?
- 17. If yes, how long ago have you known about them?
- 18. How did you know about them?
- 19. Have you ever used them?
- 20. If not, why not?
- 21. If yes, how did you find them?
- 21. Do you still use them?
- 22. If not, why not?

- 23. Other than formal resources on parenting, how else do and/or did you obtain information about child rearing in Canada?
- 24. Do you think the knowledge that you have about raising children is sufficient to enable you to raise your child/children in Canada? Please explain.
- 25. Are you familiar with the lifestyles and/or behavior of Canadian children?
- 26. If yes, how did you learn about it?
- 27. Do you think that knowledge of this is inevitable in your parenting role?

EXPERIENCES WITH CHILDREN

The following questions concern your relationship with your children.

- 28. How would you describe your relationship with your children?
- 29. What is it that you 'educate' your children about?

- 30. What do you hope to accomplish at the end of this interaction with your children? Please elaborate on your aims and expectations about your children?
- 31. How do you go about this 'education'? Please discuss the methods you use with each of your children (if different), why and when you use or stop using these methods.
- 32. What do your children think about what you teach them and how you go about it?
- 33. How do you feel about their remarks on your parenting role?
- 34. How would you describe behavior of your children?
- 35. What factors or people do you think are the principal influencers of your child/children's the behavior?
- 36. What are your greatest fears as a mother in relation to your child/children?
- 37. What triggers these fears?
- 38. What is it about your children that makes you angry, sad or disappointed?
- 39. What is it that makes you happy or satisfied?

40. Is there anything else that you wish for in your parenting role?

EXPERIENCES WITH THE CANADIAN SOCIAL ENVIRONMENT

- 41. Which social institutions or people have you interacted with as the result of your parenting role?
- 42. For what reasons?
- 43. Are you and, or your child still interacting with these institutions or people?
- 44. If not, why did you stop?
- 45. If yes, what major positive and/or negative part do they play in the upbringing of your child?
- 46. Do you ever discuss parenting issues with people in these institutions?
- 47. If yes, what is their perception of your parenting as compared to their own view of parenting?
- 48. How do you feel about their point of view?

49. How does interaction with these institutions or people affect the relationship between you and your child/children?

EXPERIENCES WITH AND WITHIN YOURSELF.

- 50. How do you define or perceive yourself in connection with the role you play in the life of your child concerning parenting?
- 51. How do you feel about the role that you play in the life of your child?
- 52. To what extent is your parenting tied to both your past experiences before you came to Canada, (that is, to your culture, your beliefs, your values, etc., and to the way in which you have been raised) and your experiences in Canada?
- 53. What major personal and parenting changes (if any have taken place) in your perception of parenting, and of yourself as a parent?
- 54. What triggered such changes?
- 55. To what extent are you satisfied and/or not satisfied with your parenting situation at this moment?
- 56. Could you give reasons for the above feelings?

- 57. What do you wish for yourself in the parenting process so that you could be satisfied with yourself?
- 58. Do you do anything in your parenting which is against your will, your personal and, or cultural beliefs and values?
- 59. If so what is it and why are you doing it?
- 60. How do you feel about the fact that you sometimes contradict your own convictions?
- 61. Which coping strategies do you employ in this regard?

EVALUATION QUESTIONS

The purpose of the following questions is to identify the sources of our parenting problems and to come up with better ways which will make our parenting and the parenting of those women who are still to immigrate to Canada more comfortable.

62. Make a brief comment or evaluation of the Canadian social environment as a parenting place.

- 63. What type of place do you think Vancouver is in facilitating and/or inhibiting what you consider to be a comfortable parenting atmosphere and environment for you in particular?
- 64. What parenting factors do you miss from your culture, and would you ike to see accommodated in the Canadian social environment? What contribution and/or difference, in your opinion, would these factors make in your parenting role and the life of your children?
- 65. Which positive factors within the Canadian culture would you like to see promoted in order to make your parenting easier?

 Why?
- 66. What is it that you really like and/or hate about parenting in Vancouver/ Why?
- 67. What changes (if any), would you like to see in the Canadian social environment in order to accommodate your needs as a 'child socialiser' and the needs of your children? That is, what is your ideal child raising environment?

Form # 2

Simon Fraser University

INFORMED CONSENT BY SUBJECTS TO PARTICIPATE IN A RESEARCH PROJECT OR EXPERIMENT

Note: The University and those conducting this project subscribe to the ethical conduct of research and to the protection at all times of the interests, comfort, and safety of subjects. This form and the information it contains are given to you for your own protection and full understanding of the procedures involved. Your signature on this form will signify that you have received the document described below regarding this project, that you have received an adequate opportunity to consider the information in the document, and that you voluntarily agree to participate in the project.

Having been asked byof
theFaculty/School/Department of Simon Fraser University
to participate in a research project experiment, I have read the
procedures specified in the document entitled:

I understand the procedures to be used in this study, which are completion of one interview approximating to two and half hours and one or two more optional follow up interviews with regard to my parenting experiences.

I understand that my participation is voluntary and that I may withdraw my participation in this study at any time.

I further understand that the researcher will, during the research and afterwards, keep all responses confidential and protect my identity by using the pseudonym I shall have provided.

about the experiment with the chief researcher named above or with
Dean/Director/Chair of
Simon Fraser University.
Copies of the results of this study, upon its completion, may be obtained by
contacting
I agree to participate by
(state what the subject will do) as described in the document referred to above, during the period:
(place where procedures will be carried out)
NAME (Please print):
ADDRESS:

SIGNAT	TURE:	WITNESS:	
DATE:		DATE:	

Once signed, a copy of this consent form and a subject feedback form should be provided to you.

APPENDIX C

Form #

SFU RESEARCH ETHICS REVIEW COMMITTEE

SUBJECT FEEDBACK FORM

Completion of this form is optional, and is not a requirement of participation in the project. However, if you have served as a subject in a project and would care to comment on procedures involved, you may complete the following form and send it to the Chairman, University Research Ethics Review Committee. All information received will be treated in a strictly confidential manner.

Name	of	Principal	Investigator:			
		•				
		nt:				
Did yo	t?		rmed Consent	Form before	participating	in the
			opy of the Con	sent Form?		
proced	lure?		t deviations fr			
(Date	 e)		(Plac			

Comments:
Completion of this section is optional
Completion of this section is optional Your name:
Completion of this section is optional Your name: Address:
Completion of this section is optional Your name: Address:
Completion of this section is optional Your name: Address:
Completion of this section is optional Your name: Address:
Completion of this section is optional Your name: Address:

This form should be sent to the Chairman, University Ethics Review Committee, c/o Vice President, Research and Information Systems, Simon Fraser University, Burnaby, B.C., V5A 1S6.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Acker, Joan, Kate Barry, and Johanna Esseveld, "Objectivity and Truth: Problems in Doing Feminist Research.", in <u>Beyond Methodology: Feminist Scholarship as Lived Research</u>, eds.: Mary Margaret Fonow and Judith A. Cook, Bloomington: Indiana University Press, 1991.
- Adamson, Joy, <u>The Peoples of Kenya</u>, New York: Harcout, Brace and World, 1967.
- Allen, Walter, R., "Moms, Dads, and Boys: Race and Sex Differeces in the Socialization of Male Children", in <u>Black Men</u>, Lawrence E. Gary, Beverly Hills: SAGE Publications, 1981.
- Amadi, Elechi, <u>Ethics in Nigerian Culture</u>, Ibadan: Hanemuna Educational, 1982.
- Anderson, Kathryn, Susan Armitage, Dana Jack, and Judith Wittner, "Beginning Where We Are: Feminist Methodology in Oral History", in <u>Feminist Research Methods: Exemplary Readings in the Social Sciences</u>, ed.: Joyce Mc Carl-Nielson, Boulder: Westview Press, 1990.
- Armstrong, Pat and Armstrong, Hugh, <u>Theorizing Womens Work</u>, Toronto: Garamond, 1990.
- Arnold, L. Eugene, <u>Parents, Children, and Change</u>, Lexington: D. C. Heath and Company, 1985.
- Assimeng, J. M., ed., <u>Traditional LIfe, Culture and Literature in Ghana</u>, Owerri, Nigeria: Couch Magazine, 1976.
- Babatunde, Emmanuel D., <u>A Critical Study of Bini and Yoruba Value</u>

 <u>Systems of Nigeria in Change: Culture, Religion, and the Self,</u>

 New York: The Edwin Mullen Press, 1992.
- Baber, Kristine, M., and Allen, Kathrine R., <u>Women and Families:</u>
 Feminist Reconstructions, New York: The Guilford Press, 1992.
- Bernard, Jessie, Women, Wives, Mothers: Values and Options, Chicago: Aldiene Publishing Company, 1975.

- Bernhard, David., ed., <u>Being a Parent: Unchanging Values in a Changing World</u>, Toronto: University of Toronto Press, 1970.
- Berry, John W., et. al., <u>Multiculturalism and Ethnic Attitudes in</u>
 <u>Canada</u>, Otawa: Minister of State for Multiculturalism, 1977.
- Billingsley, <u>Black Families in White America</u>, Englewood Cliff, N.J.: Prentice-Hall, Inc., 1968.
- Borland, Katherine, ""That's not What I Said": Interpretive Conflict in Oral Naraative Research", in <u>Women's Words: The Feminist Practice of Oral History</u>, eds.: Sherna Berger Gluck and Daphne Patai, New York: Routledge, 1991.
- Boudreau, F. A., et. al., eds., <u>Sex Roles and Social Patterns</u>, New York: Praeger Publishers, 1986.
- Boulton, Mary, G., On Being a Mother: A Study of Women with Pre-School Children, London: Tavistock Publishers, 1983.
- Boykin, Wade, and Toms, Forrest D., "Black Socialization: A Conceptual Framework", in <u>Black Children: Social, Educational and Parental Environments</u>, McAdoo, Harriette Pipes, and John Lewis McAdoo, Beverly Hills: SAGE Publications, 1985.
- Brocher, Tobias H., 'Toward New Methods in Parent Education', in <u>Parenting in a Multicultural Society</u>, eds.: Fantini, Mario D., and Rene Cardenas, New York: Longman Inc., 1980 (pp. 253-269).
- Busia, Abena P. A., and James, Stanlie, ed.: <u>Theorizing Black</u>
 <u>Feminisms: The Visionary Pragmatism of Black Women,</u>
 London: Routledge, 1993.
- Canadian Advisory Council on the Status of Women (The), Sharing Our Experience, Ottawa: Mutual press, 1993.
- Cannon, Lynn Weber, Higginbotham, Elizabeth and Leung, Marianne L. A., 'Race and Class Bias in Qualitative Research on Women', in Beyond Methodology: Feminist Scholarship as Lived Research, eds.: Mary Margaret Fonow and Judith A. Cook, Bloomington: Indiana University Press, 1991.

- Carter, Paul, <u>Living in a New Country: History, Travelling, and Language</u>, London: Faber & Faber, 1992.
- Charon, MIlly, ed.: <u>Between Two worlds; The Canadian Immigrant</u> <u>Experience</u>, Dunvegan: Quadrant Editions, 1983.
- Chinese Canadian National Council, (Women's Book Committee), <u>Voices of Chinese Canadian Women</u>, Toronto: The Women's Book Committee, 1992.
- Chodorow, Nancy., The Reproduction of Mothering: Psychoanalysis and the Sociology of Gender, Berkeley: University of California Press, 1978.
- Collins, Patricia Hill, <u>Black Feminist Thought: Knowledge</u>, <u>Consciousness</u>, and the Politics of Empowerment, London: Unwin Hyman, 1990.
- Collins, Patricia Hill, "Learning from the Outsider Within: The Sociological Significance of Black Feminist Thought", in <u>Beyond Methodology: Feminist Scholarship as Lived Research</u>, eds.: Mary Margaret Fonow and Judith A Cook, Bloomington: Indiana University Press, 1991 (pp. 35-59).
- Cook, Judith, A., and Fonow, Mary Margaret, "Knowledge and Woman's Interests: Issues of Epistemology and Knowledge and Methodology in Feminist Sociological Research", in <u>Feminist Research Methods: Exemplary Readings in the Social Sciences</u>, ed.: Joyce Mc Carl Nielson, Boulder: Westview Press, 1990.
- Dally, Ann, Mothers: Their Power and Influence, London: Weidenfeld & Nicholson, 1976.
- Dodson, Jualynne, "Conceptualizations of Black Families", in <u>Black Families</u>, eds.: Harriette Pipes McAdoo, Beverly Hills: Sage Publications, 1981.
- Dyck, I., "Integrating Home and Wage Workplace: Women's Daily Lives in a Canadian Suburb", in <u>The Canadian Geographer</u>, 3, 4, Winter 1989, (pp. 329-341).

- "Space, Time, and Renegotiating Motherhood: an exploration of the Domestic Workplace", in <u>Environment and Planning d:</u>
 <u>Society & Space</u>, 8, 4, 1990, (pp.459-483).
- Eakins, Pamela S., Mothers in Transition: A Study of the Changing
 Life Course,
 1983.

 Mothers in Transition: A Study of the Changing
 Cambridge: Schenkman Publishing Company, Inc.,
- Ellis, Alfred Burdon, <u>The Tshi-Speaking Peoples of the Gold Coast of West Africa: Their Religion, Manners, Customs, Laws, Language, etc.</u>, Chicago: Benin Press, 1964.
- Ellis, Pat, ed., Women of the Caribbean, London: Zed Book Ltd, 1986.
- Estable, Alma, <u>Immigrant Women in Canada- Current Issues</u>, Ottawa: Canadian Advisory Council on the Status of Women, 1986.
- Etter-Lewis, Gwendolyn, "Black Women's Life Stories: Reclaiming Self in Narrative Texts", in Sherna Berger Gluck and Daphne Patai, eds., Women's Words: The Feminist Practice of Oral History, eds.: Sherna Berger Gluck and Daphne Patai, New York: Routledge, 1991.
- Fallers, Lloyd A., (ed), <u>Immigrants and Associations</u>, The Hague, Paris: Mouton, 1967.
- Fantini, Mario D., and Cardenas, Rene, eds., <u>Parenting in a Multicultural Society</u>, New York: Longman, Inc., 1980.
- Fantini, Mario D., and Russo, John, 'Parenting in a Pluralistic Society: Toward a Policy of Options and Choices', in <u>Parenting in a Multicultural Society</u>, eds.: Mario D. Fantini, and Cardenas, Rene, New York: Longman, Inc., 1980.
- Field, Tiffany M., et. al. eds., <u>Culture and Early Interactions</u>, Hillsdale: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, Publishers, 1981.
- Fonow, Mary M., and Cook, Judith A., eds., <u>Beyond Methodology:</u>
 <u>Feminist Scholarship as Lived Research</u>, Bloomington: Indiana University Press, 1991.
- Grinberg, Leon & Grinberg, Rebeca, <u>Psychoanalytic Perspectives on Migration and Exile</u>, New Haven: Yale University Press, 1989.

- Hammer, Signe, <u>Daughters and Mothers/Mothers and Daughters</u>, New York: Quadrangle, 1975.
- Harris, Barbara J., "Property, Power, and Personal Relations: Elite Mothers and Sons in Yorkist and Early Tudor England", in SIGNS: Journal of Women in Culture and Society, XV, 3, Spring 1990, (pp. 606-35).
- Hennings, Richard Owen, <u>African Morning</u>, London: Chatto and Windus, 1951.
- Hess, Jurgen, ed., Voices of Change: Immigrant Writers Speak Out, Vancouver: Pulp Press, 1990.
- hooks, Bell, <u>Talking Back: Thinking Feminist</u>, <u>Thinking Black</u>, Toronto: Between the Lines, 1988.
- Humm, Maggie, "Second Wave Feminism", in Modern Feminisms:

 Political, Literary, Cultural, ed.: Maggie Humm, New York:
 Columbia University Press, 1992
- Junod, H. P., <u>Bantu Heritage</u>, West Port: Negro University Press, 1938.
- Kaye, Barrington, <u>Bringing up Children in Ghana: An Impressionistic Survey</u>, London: George Allen & Unwin Ltd, 1962.
- Kitzinger, Sheila, <u>Women as Mothers</u>, Oxford: Martin Robertson & Co., Ltd, 1978.
- Kornhaber, Arthur and Kenneth L. Woodward,

 <u>Grandparents/Grandchildren: The Vital Connection</u>, New Brunswick: Transaction, Inc., 1981; 1985.
- Krauter, Joseph F., and Davis, Morris, Minority Canadians: Ethnic Groups, Toronto: Metheusn Publications, 1978.
- Leslie, Joanne, and Paskosso, Michael, <u>Women, Work, and Child</u> Welfare in the Third World, Boulder: Westview Press, 1989.
- LeVine, Robert A., and Levine, Barbara B., <u>Nyansongo: a Gusii</u> <u>Community in Kenya</u>, New York: Wiley, 1966.

- Light, Ivan and Bhachu, P., eds., <u>Immigration and Entrepreneurship:</u>
 <u>Culture, Capital, and Ethnic Networks</u>, New Brunswick, USA:
 Transaction Publishers, 1993.
- Majors, Richard, and Billson, Janet, <u>Cool Pose: The Dillemmas of Black</u>
 <u>Manhood in America</u>, New York: Lexington Books, 1992.
- Mindel, Charles H., Habenstein, Robert W., and Wright, Jr., Roosevelt, eds., Ethnic Families in America: Patterns and Variations, New York: Elsvier, 1988.
- Ministry of Education and Ministry Responsible for Multiculturalism and Human Rights, Newcomers' Guide to Resources and Services in British Columbia, Vancouver: Ministry of Education and Ministry responsible for Multiculturalism, 1992.
- Mitchison, Naomi H., Return to the Fairy Hill, New York: John Day Co., 1966.
- Monning, H. O., The Pedi, Pretoria, J. L. Van Schaik Limited, 1967.
- McAdoo, Harriette Pipes, "Family Ethnicity: A Challenge for the Future", in <u>Family Ethnicity: Strength in Diversity</u>, eds.: Harriette Pipes McAdoo, Newbury Park: SAGE Publications, Inc., 1993.
- Myers, Lena Wright, <u>Black Women: Do they Cope Better?</u>, Englewood Cliffs, N.J.: Prentice-Hall, 1980.
- Myers, L. J., <u>Understanding an Afrocentric World View: Introduction</u> to an Optimal Psychology, Dubugue: Kendall/Hunt Publishing Company, 1988.
- National Council of Welfare, <u>In the Best Interest of the Child: A</u>

 Report by th eNational Council of Welfare on the Child Welfare

 System in Canada, Ottawa: National Council of Welfare, 1979.
- Nava, Mica, <u>Changing Cultures: Feminism</u>, <u>Youth and Consumerism</u>, London: SAGE Publications, 1992.
- Ng, Roxana, <u>The Politics of Community Services: Immigrant Women.</u>
 <u>Class and State</u>, Toronto: Garamond Press, 1988.

- Ng, Roxana, <u>Community Organization and the Canadian State</u>, Toronto: Garamond Press, 1990.
- Njoku, John E. Eberegbulam, <u>The World of the African Woman</u>, Metuchen: The Scarecrow Press, Inc., 1980.
- O' Donnell, Lydia, R., <u>The Unheralded Majority: Contemporary</u> <u>Women as Mothers</u>, Lexington: Lexington Books, 1985.
- Palmer, Howard, (ed), <u>Immigration and the Rise of Multiculturalism</u>, Vancouver: Copp Clark, 1975.
- Paulme, D., ed.: <u>Women of Tropical Africa</u>, Berkerley: University of California Press, 1971.
- Reinharz, Shulamit, <u>Feminist Methods in Social Research</u>, Oxford: New York, 1992.
- Rich, Adrienne, Of Woman Born: Motherhood as Experience and Institution, New York: W. W. Norton & Company, Inc., 1986.
- Richmond, Anthony H., <u>Immigrants and Ethnic Groups in</u>
 <u>Metropolitan Toronto</u>, Toronto: Institute of Behavioral Research, York University, 1967.
- Richmond, Anthony H., <u>Immigration and Ethnic Groups in</u>
 <u>Metropolitan Toronto</u>, Toronto: Institute of Behavioral Research, York University, 1967.
- Richmond, Anthony H., and Richmond, Freda, eds., <u>Immigrants in Canada and Australia</u>, Downview, Ont.: Institute for Behavioral Research, Social Science Research, York University, 1984.
- Roberts, Barbara, <u>Immigrant Women: Triple Oppression, Triple</u>
 <u>Jeopardy</u>, Montreal: Simone de Beauvoir Institute Publication, 1990.
- Rodgers-Rose, LaFrances, ed., <u>The Black Woman</u>, Beverly Hills: Sage Publications, 1980.

- Ruddick, Sara, 'Maternal Thinking', in Mothering: Essays in Feminist Theory, Joyce Trebilcot, ed., New Jersey: Rowman & Allanheld, 1984.
- Scanzoni, John H., <u>The Black Family in Modern Society</u>, Boston: Allyn and Bacon, Inc., 1971.
- Schapera, I., <u>The Bantu Speaking Tribes of South Africa</u>, Lowison: Routledge & Kegan Paul Limited, 1937.
- Seward, Shirley B., <u>Immigrant Women in Canada: a Policy</u>

 <u>Perspective</u>, Ottawa: Canadian Advisory Council on the Status of Women, 1988.
- Sharma, Saty P., et. al., <u>Immigrants and Refugees in Canada: a</u>

 National Perspective on Ethnicity, <u>Multiculturalism and Cross-Cultural Adjustment</u>, Saskatoon: University of Saskatchewan, 1990.
- Shimkin, Demitri b., Gloria Jean Louie, and Jennis A. Frate, "The Black Extended Family: A basic Rural Institution and Mechanism of Urban Adaptation", in <u>The Extended Family in Black Societies</u>. The Hague: Mouton Publishers, 1978.
- Smith, Dorothy, <u>The Everyday World as Problematic: A Feminist Sociology</u>, Toronto: University of Toronto Press, 1987.
- ----"Making the Everyday and Everynight World Problematic", Douglas College, 24 February, 1994.
- Smith, Farrell Janet, 'Parenting and Property', in <u>Mothering: Essays</u> in Feminist Theory, ed.: Joyce Trebilcot, New Jersey: Rowman & Allanheld, 1984, (pp. 199-212).
- Spelman, Elizabeth V., <u>Inessential Woman: Prblems of Exclusion in Feminist Thought</u>, Boston: Beacon Press, 1988.
- Stacey, Judith, "Can There Be a Feminist Ethnography?", in <u>Women's</u>

 <u>Words: The Feminist Practice of Oral History</u>, eds.: Sherna

 Berger Gluck and Daphne Patai, New York: Routledge, 1991.

- Staples, Robert, "The Black American Family", in <u>Ethnic Families in</u>

 <u>America: Pattern and Variations</u>, eds.: C. H. Mindel, et. al., New
 York: Elsvier Science Publishing Co., Inc., 1988.
- Staples, Robert, ed., <u>The Black Family Essays and Studies</u>, Belmont: Wordsworth Publishing Company, Inc., 1971.
- Trebilcot, Joyce, ed., Mothering: Essays in Feminist Theory, New Jersey: Rowman & Allanheld, 1984.
- Torjman, Sherri, <u>The Reality Gap: Closing the Gap Between Women's Needs and Available Programs and Services</u>, Ottawa: Canadian Advisory Council on the Status of Women, April, 1988.
- Vockell, Edward, L., <u>Whatever Happened to Punishment</u>, Muncie: Accelerated Development, Inc., 1977.
- Warren, Catharine E., <u>Vignettes of Life: Experiences and Self</u>
 <u>Perceptions of New C nadian Women</u>, Calgary: Delselig Enterprises, Limited, 1986.
- Weikart, David, P., 'Organizing Delivery of Parent Education', in <u>Parenting in a Multicultural Society</u>, eds.: Mario D. Fantini, and Rene Cardenas, New York: Longman, Inc., 1980 (pp. 243-252).
- WhitBeck, Caroline, 'The Maternal Instinct', in Mothering: Essays in Feminist Theory, ed.: Joyce Trebilcot, New Jersey: Rowman & Allanheld, 1984.
- Zahan, Dominique, <u>The Religion, Spirituality, and Thought of Traditional Africa</u>, Chicgo: University of Chicago Press, 1979.

NEWSPAPERS

'Burnaby News', Wednesday, April 6, 1994.

The News in Burnaby', Wednesday, April 6, 1994.